

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Strategies for Not-for-Profit Sustainability

LaTesha Slappy Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Sustainability Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

LaTesha Slappy

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. Dina Samora, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. David Harris, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

#### Abstract

Strategies for Not-for-Profit Sustainability

by

LaTesha Slappy

MBA, Walden University, 2015 BS, Michigan State University, 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2019

#### Abstract

Leaders of not-for-profit organizations could benefit from learning how to build a sustainable organization to help ensure that their organizations could continue to provide valuable services to the community for the future. The purpose of this single case study was to explore the fundraising strategies and donor development skills that leaders used to create a sustainable organization. Five purposefully selected leaders of a not-for-profit organization in Michigan, with experience in implementing effective fundraising strategies and fostering donor development skills for a sustainable business, participated in the study. Transformational leadership was the conceptual framework. The data collection process entailed face-to-face semistructured interviews, observations, and review of company documentation. In-depth analysis of interview transcripts, organizational websites, and organizational documents provided the basis for coding of repeated words and clusters of information to identify 3 themes: the impact of relationships on fundraising efforts, fundraising strategies for organizational viability, and endowment funds as a source of revenue that can help an organization become financially sustainable. The implications of this study for positive social change are increases in sustainability within the not-for-profit community or increases in charitable contributions locally, possible improvements in the quality of life for the employees and community, and the continuation of vital services that are provided by these organizations.

# Strategies for Not-for-Profit Sustainability

by

LaTesha Slappy

MBA, Walden University, 2015 BS, Michigan State University, 2001

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2019

#### Dedication

I would like to first and foremost thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ for blessing me to fulfill this amazing journey and giving me the strength every step of the way. "The Lord is my shepherd; I shall not want," Psalms 23:1. I would like to thank my parents, Pastors Alonzo and Elmira Vincent who spent countless hours praying with me and for me, helping me to count and recount references, and keeping me awake during late nights. I cannot thank you enough for your love and support. I love you both very much. I thank you both for the countless sacrifices that were made, your patience, and unwavering support. Your prayers were always right on time. Pastor E. Vincent, I especially thank you for understanding and keeping me motivated and not allowing me to lose faith. I would like to thank my entire family who supported me through the process and understood when I was not available to participate in family functions. Your prayers were greatly appreciated. I would also like to thank the Mission of Peace Pentecostal Church Family who stood behind me, prayed with me, and have supported me. I was blessed beyond measure to have a wide supportive net of family and friends who stood by me and encouraged me continuously. I must thank Dr. Samora who I feel I was blessed to have as my Committee Chair. Dr. Samora, you were a constant source of support. I thank all of my colleagues who helped me out along the way, who helped me when I got stuck and was generally supportive.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to give thanks to my Lord for allowing me to complete my dream of completing the doctoral program. I would not have made it without you. I would like to thank Dr. Samora; you are simply an amazing person. You have always been there to lend support and guidance. I appreciate you taking the time to respond to all my concerns and to help me get on track. You were never too busy to help. You have helped me since I met you and I am thankful to have you in my life. I would like to thank Dr. Harris and Dr. Anthony; I appreciate your guidance and support. Your comments and feedback helped me to become a stronger researcher and writer. Words cannot appreciate how grateful I am for my entire committee which created a phenomenal learning experience for me and allowed me to grow throughout the process.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Theoretical or Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Organization of the Review	13
Search Strategy	13
Summary of Peer-Reviewed Articles and Publications	14
Application to the Applied Business Problem	14
Critical Analysis and Synthesis of Transformational Leadership	15

	Contrasting Theory	21
	Not-for-profit Organizations	23
	Funding Types	26
	Fundraising	34
	Donor Development	40
	Corporate Social Responsibility	41
	Sustainability	43
	Summary and Transition	49
Se	ection 2: The Project	51
	Purpose Statement	51
	Role of the Researcher	52
	Participants	54
	Research Method and Design	55
	Research Method	55
	Research Design	57
	Population and Sampling	58
	Ethical Research	60
	Data Collection Instruments	61
	Data Collection Technique	64
	Data Organization Technique	67
	Data Analysis	68
	Reliability and Validity	72

	Reliability	72
	Validity	73
	Credibility	73
	Transferability	74
	Confirmability	74
	Data Saturation	74
	Summary and Transition	75
Se	ection 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	76
	Introduction	76
	Presentation of the Findings	76
	Applications to Professional Practice	85
	Implications for Social Change	90
	Recommendations for Action	91
	Recommendations for Further Research	92
	Reflections	93
	Conclusion	95
Re	eferences	97
	Appendix: Interview Protocol	.135

# List of Tables

Table 1.Total Percentages of References Used	. 14
Table 2. Professional Background of the Participants	.78
Table 1	. 14
Total Percentages of References Used	. 14
Table 2 Professional Background of the Participants	.78

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

One of the primary challenges facing leaders of not-for-profit organizations is ensuring that the organization is sustainable and viable on a long-term basis (Sebastian-Ion, Eduard-Gabriel Orzan, Cristian & Marin, 2017). The purpose of this study was to gain knowledge from successful leaders of a not-for-profit organization to understand the fundraising strategies and donor development skills used that allowed the leaders to be successful. By conducting interviews with leaders of a not-for-profit organization in Michigan, I gathered insightful information that future and current not-for-profit leaders could use for sustainability beyond 5 years. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations in other states may benefit from this study's results; those regarding sustainability through leaders' fundraising strategies and donor development skills can be used to help leaders change as needed to meet the needs of their organizations.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Unmet needs in society—such as programs and services that improve the well-being of individuals, families, and communities—lead to the formation of not-for-profit organizations. At a fundamental level, not-for-profit institutions provide value to societies by fulfilling those needs. Not-for-profit organizations play pivotal roles in societies: They produce a variety of benefits, such as boosting economic prosperity, maintaining environmental integrity and pursuing social justice—thus, providing value to society and improving the quality of life of communities and clients (McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015). Besides their integral roles in society, not-for-profit organizations are influential contributors to the economy (McKeever & Gaddy,

2016). Nonprofits organizations pursue missions that satisfy the needs of their targeted populations, which may not correlate to being a sustainable organization. These organizations operate in a progressively competitive environment due to severe competition for donors, grants, and government contracts (McDonald et al., 2015). In 2013, there were over 1.4 million registered not-for-profit organizations representing over 10% of the domestic workforce, which equals about 5% of the gross domestic product (McKeever et al., 2016).

Based on the structure of not-for-profit organizations coupled with their reliance on various sources of funding, upholding public relations is one of the essential functions of the leadership in the organization (Vasavada, 2014). Not-for-profit organizations face many challenges, which include how to create a sustainable organization. During lean times, not-for-profit organizations find themselves competing against each other for a limited amount of funding (Vasavada, 2014). Thus, creating the need for leaders to implement fundraising strategies while using strong donor development skills to generate sufficient funds for the sustainability of the organization. A critical issue for not-for-profit organizations operating in challenging environments is the securing of their economic viability and growth (McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015).

#### **Problem Statement**

Financial distress and vulnerability are typical circumstances that leaders of notfor-profit organizations frequently experience, which impacts their sustainability and viability (Tevel, Katz, & Brock, 2015). As of 2014, only 47% of nonprofits engaged in any form of sustainability partnership to ensure the organization had sufficient funds for operations (Kiron et al., 2015). The general business problem was that some nonprofit organizations are negatively affected by leaders' lack of fundraising knowledge and donor development skills, which results in the lack of sustainability for the organization. The specific business problem is some leaders in nonprofit organizations lack fundraising strategies and donor development skills to sustain their business.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative, single-case study was to explore the fundraising strategies and donor development skills that not-for-profit leaders used to sustain their business. The targeted population was a not-for-profit organizations' leaders in a nationwide, Michigan-based, not-for-profit organization that served the underprivileged. Who demonstrated fundraising strategies and donor development skills that enabled sustainability. The results of this study could contribute to social change by identifying strategies that can help not-for-profit organizations become financially sustainable so that such organizations can continue providing quality services in the local communities they serve while maintaining a consistent level of employment for employees.

## **Nature of the Study**

The selection of a research method influences the entire study, as it forms the structure for the doctoral study. The research method for this doctoral study was a qualitative single-case study. Researchers use qualitative research methods to explore data based on the use of social practices along with the identification of impediments to change (Grieb, Eder, Smith, Calhoun, & Tandon, 2015). The incorporation of qualitative

research tools, such as interviews and observation, is for exploring critical theoretical and practical questions within management (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013). Qualitative research method incorporates values and perspectives from the researcher and the participants. On the other hand, the focus of quantitative research is on statistical analysis through the collection of numerical data coupled with the testing of a hypothesis (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). A mixed method study is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research. According to Halcomb and Hickman, (2015), mixed method research consists of the integration of both qualitative and quantitative research to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the research question than using either method alone. The implementation of mixed method research is appropriate when using either qualitative or quantitative research alone will not provide all the needed information. However, the qualitative approach was sufficient to provide all the information required for this doctoral study.

The research design was a single case study. The selection of the single case study allowed the development of an in-depth analysis of a single not-for-profit organization's leadership who understood the importance of strong fundraising strategies and donor development contributing to a sustained business for over 5 years. Using a case study can give clarity to, and increased knowledge about, a particular phenomenon (Dresch, Lacerda, & Miguel, 2015). Using the case study can extract data from various sources, such as interviews and observations to allow numerous levels of concurrent exploration of the dynamics in a single setting (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The use of the case study research design for this study was to identify crucial financial strategies the organization

used to remain?? financially sustainable. The case study was a more appropriate design compared to phenomenology or ethnography. The use of a phenomenology design helps in understanding the essence of meanings of participants' experiences relating to a phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I did not select the phenomenology design as I was seeking to explore the strategies of not-for-profit leaders in obtaining sustainability through knowledge gained in interviews held in real-life settings. Thus the phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Employing an ethnographic design involves the description and interpretation of a cultural or social group (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The best use for ethnographic research design is when studying a cultural or social norm. So it was not an applicable option for this study. In case studies, the researcher is the primary instrument of data collection and analysis, employing an investigative approach and producing a rich description (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). For this research design, I focused on not-for-profit leadership in an organization that exhibited sound fundraising strategies, and donor development skills; therefore, the case study design was appropriate.

#### **Research Question**

What specific fundraising strategies and donor development skills do not-forprofit leaders need for their organizations to be sustainable?

#### **Interview Questions**

I used the following interview questions to help answer the overarching research question and to help understand the attributes of transformational leadership and the challenges faced by not-for-profit leaders:

- 1. How does your organization define the term *sustainability*?
- 2. What steps do you take in your organization to ensure it is sustainable?
- 3. What are the current fundraising strategies that your organization uses to cover operational costs and remain viable?
- 4. How do you cultivate relationships with your donors and volunteers?
- 5. How do you influence or motivate donors and volunteers to meet the fundraising goals?
- 6. What are your long-range financial planning strategies for organizational sustainability?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about your success at running a sustainable not-for-profit organization?

## **Theoretical or Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this qualitative study was transformational leadership. Burns coined the terms *transactional leadership* and *transforming leadership* in 1978 (Burns, 1978). However, Bass in 1985 extended the work of Burns by explaining how to measure transformational leadership, and the impact it has on follower motivation and performance. According to Bass, Waldman, Avolio, and Bebb (1987), transformational leadership occurs when a manager is charismatic and intellectual and treats subordinates as individuals. A transformational leader can guide followers to exceed their performance expectations by attempting to raise the needs of followers to be aligned with the goals and objective of the leaders, based on deep personal values for things such as justice and integrity (Bass et al. (1987); Humphreys & Einstein, 2003). A

not-for-profit leader should work with donors and funders to encourage them to establish an on-going relationship and to provide sufficient funding to the organization. The leader's inability to fundraise can ultimately affect the sustainability of the organization.

The goal of a not-for-profit leader is to create a sustainable organization that can continue providing goods or services to the communities it serves. According to Bass, Waldman, Avolio, and Bebb (1987), there are four behaviors associated with transformational leadership: charisma, inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration (Humphreys & Einstein, 2003). Transformational leaders can encourage their followers to unite, change their goals, and collaborate for a collective purpose (Jyoti & Dev, 2015). Their abilities to inspire individuals to exceed normal performance levels using inspiration, intelligence, and promoting individual strengths can encourage individuals to contribute to the sustainability efforts of an organization.

#### **Operational Definitions**

The following two operational definitions provided clarity to the application of the terms throughout the doctoral study.

Organizational Sustainability: Nonprofits should strive to remain financially viable and better equipped to deliver the services that fulfill the social needs of the community (McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015).

Nonprofits have to balance achieving the mission in conjunction with receiving adequate earned income to continue operations. Sustainability is the ability to accomplish the mission of the organization along with producing sufficient revenue to continue operations (McDonald et al.).

Transformational leader: Characteristics of a transformational leader include being a visionary, creative, motivational, and sensitive to the needs of the followers (Valero, Jung, & Andrew, 2015). There are benefits to a leader who is in a position of authority by being a transformational leader. Transformational leadership has evolved over the last 50 years and resulted in a more wide-ranging comprehension of leadership behaviors that have led to a higher level of leadership efficacy (Asencio, 2016). The transformational leader needs to establish a relationship of trust with its subordinates to motivate them to exceed expectations.

# Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### **Assumptions**

Marshall and Rossman (2016) defined an assumption as an unverified fact. Based on the financial and organizational capacity issues affecting nonprofits in Michigan, the first assumption was that fundraising knowledge and donor development strategies were needed to strengthen the sustainability of these organizations. The second assumption in this study was that not-for-profit leaders needed to learn donor development tactics based on the information that Flint, Michigan, was in the process of making a sluggish recovery due to decades of a recession (Custer, 2016). The third assumption made, was that not-for-profit organizations did not have a long-term fundraising plan that enabled the organization to be sustainable.

#### Limitations

A limitation occurs when the process of selective recognition is used to indicate what is applicable in a study for the description of limitations in a qualitative research

study (Pettigrew, 2013). When the identification for the potential weakness happens in the study, the limitations become apparent. One potential limitation of this study was the narrow focus taken by identifying fundraising knowledge and donor development strategies as the primary factors that led to organizational sustainability. Not-for-profit organizations are attempting to secure funding while working in a competitive environment that has limited funding, regardless of the level of fundraising knowledge and donor development approaches. Furthermore, the limited geographic scope could have posed a limitation on the findings of the study due to the concentration on a Michigan not-for-profit organization with a social service focus. There could have been different results for organizations located in various geographic areas.

The first limitation for the study is, the participants of the study could have elected not to disclose information that was relevant to the study for some reasons, perhaps proprietary. Second, participants could have their own set of notions concerning my role as the researcher and the implications on their organization that may have affected the results. Additional limitations to this study might exist.

#### **Delimitations**

Akaeze (2016) explained that a delimitation pertains to the scope and boundaries covered by a study. The study included a purposeful sample of leaders of not-for-profit organizations who managed a not-for-profit organization in Michigan. Interviews captured the actual lived experiences of these leaders within this single qualitative case study. The specific focus areas of this study were not-for-profit leadership, fundraising strategies, donor development skills, and sustainability. Study participants had to have at

least 5 years of knowledge of fundraising strategies, donor development skills, and sustainable practices. According to Leung, Law, Van Hoof, and Buhalis (2013), the combination of these priority factors provided a threshold for specific strategies that could be useful to help a not-for-profit organization achieve sustainability and viability. Individuals excluded from participation in this study were those who did not meet the criterion. The researcher was confident the research would provide a comprehensive overview of findings and discussions in not-for-profit leadership.

#### Significance of the Study

Challenges that some not-for-profit organizations face are shrinking budgets, operating with limited resources, while beingconfronted with demand for increases services. Therefore it was necessary for the organization to achieve its mission and be sustainable (Kapucu & Demiroz, 2015). Some nonprofits have had to cease operations due to not having sufficient funding (Curtis et al., 2010). Findings from this study may be of value by potentially providing other not-for-profit organizations with tools that they can use to build a financially sound organization. Nonprofits provide essential services to the community; which is why it is vital that they have a plan in place for continuing to operate and providing needed services. Nonprofits that do not have the proper foundation, including funding for the organization's activities, may have to cease operations (Kapucu et al, 2015.).

The exploration of the strategies in this doctoral study has the potential to provide not-for-profit leaders with essential knowledge for fundraising success. Regardless of the

size of the organization, its performance correlates significantly to fundraising proficiency (Su, Nuryyev, & Aimable, 2014).

Leung, Law, Van Hoof, and Buhalis (2013) stated that effective not-for-profit organizations are typically at the heart of communities because they provide valuable services, such as skills training and healthcare. If not-for-profit organizations did not provide these services, some individuals would not gain access to them. Not-for-profit leaders may learn donor development skills, which would enable the organization to continue receiving adequate levels of funding to continue providing services supporting their communities' citizens.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the donor development skills and fundraising strategies that not-for-profit leaders used to obtain sustainability. In this section, I sought to put the study in context through a comprehensive analysis and synthesis of existing literature. The section begins with a description of my search strategy, followed by a detailed discussion of the study's conceptual framework and contrasting theory. Next, I discuss not-for-profit organizations, fundraising, sustainability, and donor development. The section concludes with a summary and transition to Section 2.

Currently, there are more than 1.4 million registered not-for-profit organizations in the United States that do work for the public good and address challenges such as hunger and malnutrition, homelessness, education, and civil rights (Jones & Mucha, 2014). The vital services provided by these not-for-profit organizations benefit the

community, which is crucial for organizations to be sustainable. The work done by nonprofits is work that for-profit organizations cannot or will not do (Jones et al, 2014.). The nonprofits meet the needs that neither the business sector or the public sector fulfills. Nonprofits typically pursue missions that are not necessarily profitable (McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015).

Medina-Borja and Triantis (2014) explained that during a period in which nonprofits experienced a higher demand for services, nonprofits who lacked sustainability were forced to cease its operations. Which contrasts with the research conducted by Teske (2017) that stated organizations needed a thorough understanding of the organizational process to be successful. However, Weiwei and Qiushi (2016) concluded that the financial resources of nonprofits are essential for organizational sustainability and growth. Additionally, obtaining long-term financial sustainability through maintenance and enhanced financial capacity is the primary financial goal of notfor-profit organizations (Weiwei et al.). Medina-Borja et al., revealed not-for-profit organizations providing social services are dealing with challenging fundraising environments at the same time of dealing with social and health problems which can lead to sustainability concerns. However, Teske posits that when nonprofits concentrate on fulfilling its mission versus making money can lead to an organization lacking sustainability. Schaltegger and Hörisch (2017) concluded that managers should handle sustainability at the same times as addressing the overall health and mission of the organization. Researchers can use the following analysis of previous research to

understand the importance of using transformational leadership necessary to sustain notfor-profit organizations.

# **Organization of the Review**

The purpose of the literature review was to (a) present this study in the context of donor development skills and financial strategies to produce a sustainable organization, (b) justify the need for the research, and (c) ensure the establishment of the study on existing research. The literature review has several subsections. It begins with an introduction, which includes information about the strategy I used when searching for the literature, the percentages of peer-reviewed articles, as well as publication dates. In the next section, I focused on the application of what exactly??? to the applied business problem, conceptual framework, and contrasting theory. The subtopics discussed were not-for-profit organizations, for-profit organizations, fundraising, funding types, donor development, corporate social responsibility, and sustainability.

#### **Search Strategy**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies not-for-profit leaders use to create sustainable organizations using fundraising knowledge and donor development skills. The literature review explored the literature on financial fundraising strategies and donor development. The following databases were used: (a) ABI/Inform Complete, (b) Business Source Complete, (c) EBSCO Host, (d) Emerald Insight, (e) ProQuest, and (f) the Sage Journals to. The following keywords and phrases were used: donor development skills, financial strategies, nonprofits, corporate social responsibility, nonprofit, not-for-profit, for-profit organizations, fundraising, fundraising

strategies, responsibility, transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and sustainability.

## **Summary of Peer-Reviewed Articles and Publications**

Table 1 illustrates the reference, total, and percentage of resources used within the 5 years or less anticipated Chief Academic Officer (CAO) approval, which is from 2014 to 2018.

Table 1

Total Percentages of References Used

			% of usage,	% of usage,
		% of	less than 5	greater than
Reference	Total	references	years	5 years
Scholarly and peer-reviewed articles	233	94	88	12
Other sources (seminal work,				_
dissertations & gov. sites)	16	6	69	31
Total	249	100	100	100

Note. Seminal works refer to books.

# **Application to the Applied Business Problem**

The objective of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that leaders of not-for-profit organizations used to examine donor development skills and fundraising strategies used to achieve sustainability. The qualitative approach enabled the development and understanding of the strategies within the exploratory single case study. In this study, the researcher provided insight into donor development skills and financial strategies of leaders in not-for-profit organizations based on the perspectives of leaders.

The findings of the study can assist with the development of appropriate strategies nonprofits can use. The appropriate strategies will equip leaders with the necessary skills

and strategies to works towards organizational sustainability. The findings from the study can improve business practice by identifying appropriate donor development skills and fundraising strategies which result in increased efficiency and organizational competitiveness. The potential for social change included applying proven strategies to develop sustainable not-for-profit organizations to help not-for-profit leaders address broader issues, such as solving problems that for-profit organizations do not address.

# Critical Analysis and Synthesis of Transformational Leadership

The conceptual framework for this qualitative study was transformational leadership. As indicated by Palumbo (2016), leadership is a vital success factor for nonprofits. Transformational leadership and its characteristics demonstrate an equal quality needed in leaders who are fundraising and using donor development skills. Transformational leadership is the process by which leaders affect a radical change in the behavior of followers (Burns, 1978) such as during the process of donor development and fundraising. The not-for-profit sector experienced significant changes that impacted their sustainability beginning with the recession of 2008-2009 (Jacobs, 2017). A transformational leader can help to provide the not-for-profit with needed leadership during these challenging economic times. Nonprofits deal with complex social issues such as poverty, housing, education to be solved by multiple entities (Jacobs). According to Burns, a transformational leader is an individual that elevates the followers' level of awareness about the significance and value of sought-after outcomes and the tactics to obtain those outcomes. As a not-for-profit leader is working with individuals, they will share the goals of the organization which includes the soliciting of funds.

Burns (1978) stated an integral part of transformational leadership is the relationship between leaders and followers, he described transformational leaders as those who bring about expressive relationships coupled with a mutual comprehension of others to motivate them to obtain their highest potential, understanding the importance of their work reaching their organizational goals, while creating superior work. Not-forprofit leaders at times rely on their charisma to motivate employees to exceed their goals which can lead to higher levels of productivity. Khan and Ismail (2017) note that charisma a component of transformational leadership can elicit change in followers. Notfor-profit leaders can use charisma to unite individuals with their fundraising strategies. Sasson and Katz (2014) noted that the core of transformational leadership is an ethical vision and morals which is beneficial in donor development relations. Not-for-profit organizations need transformational leaders to help propel the organization forward. Masa'deh, Obeidat, and Tarhini (2016) state that transformational leadership can result in exceptional positive relationships with underlings along with performance motivation and promise. Leadership of a not-for-profit organization plays a significant role in the operation of the organization.

Leadership is a crucial concept for organizations due to their influence on employee attitudes and actions (Yıldız & Şimşek, 2016). Burns (1978) indicated transformational leadership occurs when one or more individuals interact with others in a manner that leads to leaders and followers having a mutually increased level of inspiration and ethics. As not-for-profit leaders identify fundraising goals and to solicit donors, they can embrace transformational leadership as a tool to influence employees

and donors alike. The mutual motivations within a transformational leadership relationship effects both leaders and followers. According to Taylor, Cornelius, and Colvin (2014), transformational leadership can encourage others to move past focusing on their interests and begin acting in the best interest of the organization. Leaders charged to meet the needs of the clients. Taylor et al. noted that visionary leadership is a form of transformational leadership wherein it presents occasions to grow the capacity of the organization to fulfill the necessities of its clientele. Leaders are operating in challenging fundraising environments and can use their transformational leadership qualities such as charisma when engaging in fundraising strategies. Transformational leadership, over the last 50 years evolved into a more wide-ranging comprehension of leadership behaviors that have led to a higher level of leadership efficacy (Asencio, 2016). Muthia and Krishnan (2015) opined that transformational leadership raises followers' leadership capability by addressing their needs. The needs of a follower can include a thorough understanding of the fundraising goals of the organization. As stated by Taylor et al. leadership plays a vital role in the level of organizational efficacy.

Burns (1978) explained the correlation between leaders and followers noting transformational leaders work to create meaningful relations and mutual understanding with people to encourage them to yield superior work and accomplish organizational goals. Rowold, Borgmann, and Bormann (2014) pointed out that a transformational leader possesses the ability to encourage their followers to increase performance which is useful when soliciting donors or identifying fundraising strategies. Transformational leadership primarily focuses on the overall organization and their shared goals as

evidenced by Allen et al. (2016). The shared goals of an organization include identifying any fundraising strategies needed to raise the annual budget.

Leaders stress the importance of organizational growth and development. A notfor-profit organization could benefit from transformational leadership, which inspires and motivates people to exceed ordinary expectations (Mesu, Sanders, & Riemsdijk, 2015). Allen et al. stated that transformational leaders empower and encourage followers to take ownership of organizational visions, which promotes behaviors such as intellect, imagination, ingenuity, risk-taking, advancement, and success. The level of exertion by employees is mainly dependent upon the relationship established with its leadership. Mesu et al. found that in small and medium-sized organizations transformational leadership provoked extraordinary commitment in their followers, which led to exceptional performance. Allen et al. explained the primary behaviors of charismatic leadership, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration characterize transformational leadership. The intention of the behaviors is to motivate followers. Gyanchandani (2017) explained that leaders play an integral role in organizations as role models who influence the values, system, culture, and behaviors of individuals within the organization. The influence of a transformational leader can stimulate employees to think outside of the box and identify inventive solutions to exceed performance goals.

Gyanchandani (2017) opined that leadership in and of itself is a crucial factor attributed to the growth or breakdown of an organization. According to a study by Asencio (2016), transformational leadership results in positive employee job satisfaction.

Job satisfaction is crucial to the success of not-for-profit organizations, mainly because of the volunteer efforts of their workforce. Transformational leadership also plays a substantially larger role in job satisfaction as compared to that of transactional leadership (Asencio). Trust is an essential factor for transformational leaders. Employees need to trust the leader and be willing to follow their directives. Valero, Jung, and Andrew (2015) concluded that transformational leaders are visionary, creative, motivational, and sensitive to the needs of their followers. As transformational leaders undertake the fundraising process, they provide clear guidance and direction in not-for-profit organizations making it essential for the improvement of these traits.

Transformational leadership can empower followers and produce positive changes in their life. Muthia and Krishnan (2015), explained the empowerment and improvement heightened by transformational leadership inspire the followers to obtain higher goals.

Not-for-profit organizations that encounter frequent change could benefit from a transformational leadership culture. Witmer and Mellinger (2016) explained the need for nonprofits to seek sustainable strategies in this environment rift with changing funding landscapes and tumultuous economic times.

Hoch, Bommer, Dulebohn, and Wu (2018) explained that transformational leadership is an ongoing process where leaders and followers continue to raise each other to higher levels of morals and inspiration not focused on self-interest but the collective interest. Transformational leadership is not a one-time occurrence but is a continual process whereby leaders engage employees to an increased level of performance.

Organizational leaders depend on employees to help the organization to run smoothly,

effectively, and efficiently. According to Stahl, Covrig, and Newman (2014), leadership behaviors foretells overall leader efficacy. The management of those employees is highly dependent on the quality of the leadership, which affects their relationships and the determination of handling internal and external issues employees face when working to achieve corporate goals (Jyoti & Dev, 2015). Yahaya & Ebrahim (2016) posited that transformational leaders emphasize the needs and personal development of followers.

Also, Jyoti et al. indicated that transformational leaders could influence the employees to exceed expectations. Mozammel and Haan (2016) argued that transformational leadership could increase customer relations. As explained by Effelsberg and Solga (2015), a reason for the effectiveness of transformational leadership lies in the fact that the leaders provide inspirational motivation through the communication of a captivating mission in the perspective of employees. When leaders influence the employees, it helps provide alternative solutions to foreseeable problems they may encounter. Not-for-profit organizations can benefit from dynamic leadership and engaged employees.

Fazzi and Zamaro (2016) shared that transformational leadership is essential for the management of groups of individuals versus boosting individual performance. Not-for-profit leaders are concerned with the overall organization and not just one person. The study by Veríssimo and Lacerda (2015) illustrates that integrity is a predictor of transformational leadership behavior. Integrity can relate to moral or ethical behavior and is a critical element of leadership. Individuals are more prone to follow a leader with high morals. According to Veríssimo and Lacerda leaders with the highest level of transformational leadership had higher integrity which is also a driver of corporate social

responsibility. Leaders who demonstrate high levels of integrity are more prone to be engaged in corporate social responsibility due to their transformational leadership behaviors. Veríssimo and Lacerda noted transformational leadership aligns individual needs and values with the cohesive goals of the organization. Transformational leadership typology provides a leadership style that not-for-profit organizations can use to develop fundraising strategies and donor development skills.

# **Contrasting Theory**

According to Burns (1978), the conceptualization of leadership occurs as being either transformational or transactional. Also, Burns discerned that transformational and transactional leadership are on opposites ends of the spectrum and is dissimilar. Burns stated there is a perception of transformational leaders as leaders who arouse and encourage underlings to expand their leadership ability and accomplish astonishing outcomes, whereas transactional leadership rewards or punishes employees based on obtainment of goals (Caillier & Sa, 2017). McCleskey (2014) stated that the exchanges that occur during transactional leadership enable leaders to achieve their performance goals, accomplish necessary tasks, avoid needless risks, and to focus on enhanced organizational productivity. According to Yahaya and Ebrahim, (2016), a characteristic of transactional leadership is the exchange that occurs amid leaders, coworkers, and followers. Burns stated a transactional leader abides by the guidelines and procedures to achieve the agency mission and objectives, delivering precise instructions to subordinates for the completion of assignments along with offering rewards for a fruitful event. Another distinction made by Oberfield (2014) is transactional leaders establish clear

performance goals, carefully monitor employee progression, and administer a reward or punishment based on goal achievement. According to Fazzi and Zamaro (2016), transformational leaders provide their followers with long-range objectives, needs, and beliefs that they can identify with whereas transactional leadership operates on a complementary approach which offers benefits to both sides. Burns stated that transactional leaders concentrate on instructive tasks and presenting incentives for positive performance and penalties for negative performance. According to Brahim, Riđić, and Jukić (2015), transactional leadership does not provide a high level of inspiration or even motivation for the followers; instead it issues penalties for not meeting performance objectives. Helmig, Hinz, and Ingerfurth (2015) stated that transactional leadership is the preferred style for instruct and regulated approach. Yahaya et al. supported Bass's assertion that transactional leader can produce satisfactory results for a short time whereas transformational leadership can create long-standing changes, imagination, and throughput. According to Yahaya et al., three leadership elements connected with transactional leadership include conditional reward, lively management via an exception, and inactive management via an exception. Additionally, Megheirkouni (2017) states contingent compensation denotes the limitations the leader explains obligations with promised or actual incentives presented for achieving the expectations. Helmig et al. noted that transformational and transactional leadership styles could be complementary to each other in a dynamic setting.

#### **Not-for-profit Organizations**

Rosenbaum (2016), explained that since the inception of the Internal Revenue Code, the federal tax policy created an exemption for exempt organizations which operates for explicit charitable purposes are known as a not-for-profit organization. However, a not-for-profit still needs to generate revenue to maintain its operations. The primary source of funds comes from grants and donations, but this is not a limitless pool of funds which creates sustainability issues (Khorin, Potanina, & Brovkin, 2017). According to Beaton and Hwang (2017), in the United States, the not-for-profit sector is massive and seeing the continuous growth of small organizations. Not-for-profit organizations intend to further a mission, rather than to enrich a set of people or earn a profit. One of the primary purposes of not-for-profit organizations is to fulfill the social needs and public services of society (Park & Kim, 2016). McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015 states that nonprofits provide value and make what some consider as a substantial role in society. Nonprofits engage in program services as defined by the Internal Revenue Service which yields public benefit outcomes and to fulfill their mission (Brown, 2017). Nonprofits are involved in a wide range of industries such as the arts, environmental services, healthcare, higher education, and social service agencies. Soysa, Jayamaha, and Grigg (2016) state the majority of the objectives for notfor-profit organizations relate to the servicing of the target communities with the intention of producing a positive impact. According to Dobrai and Farkas, (2016), nonprofits are called various names including not-for-profit, nongovernmental organizations, and voluntary. Despite the difference in terminology, the core of a not-forprofit organization is to provide a collective and public purpose to be charitable (Osula & Ng, 2014). Gamble and Beer (2017), clarified that in the United States, nonprofits receive the formal recognition as legally registered organizations under the 501(c)3 Tax Code which provides them with the ability to obtain tax-exempt status. Additionally, Osula and Ng explained that the charitable purpose allows it to receive tax-exempt status. Fontes-Filho and Bronstein (2016), discussed some standard features of nonprofits is that donations are typically tax deductible, there are no owners in a nonprofit, and the boards and managers will never have to face a takeover or possess assets with values associated with the nonprofit's success. Osula and Ng state that typically the owner of nonprofits occurs by a community sector and the governing board which is responsible for the organization. Zhu, Wang, and Bart (2016) noted that the engagement of the board of directors for nonprofits and for-profit organizations contributes to financial performance, competitiveness, and innovation. However, Jaskyte (2015), noted that the board of directors in a not-for-profit is ultimately accountable for organizational performance. Whereas for-profit companies create short-term and long-term goals, there is an owner or principal of the company and includes profit as a performance benchmark according to Fontes-Filho and Bronstein. Bernstein, Buse, and Slatten (2015) noted the importance of board members for a not-for-profit as they work to ensure the not-for-profit remains true to its mission, adheres to the law and operates in a fiscally responsible manner. Over the past 20 years, the number of not-for-profit organizations registered with the IRS has risen from 1.09 million to 1.57 million according to the National Center for Charitable Statistics database, which contributes to the competitive environment that nonprofits

operate in (Tysiac, 2016). According to Helmig, Hinz, and Ingerfurth (2015), nonprofits are continually dealing with proficiency demands making it necessary for them to focus not only on the mission but on a broader perspective that will satisfy many goals and expectations. The mission-driven focus influences how the organization brings in revenue: there is a purpose behind how the revenue received as it allows the organization to further its mission (Gazzola, Ratti, & Amelio, 2017). As indicated by Hu, Kapucu, and O'Byrne (2014), smaller nonprofits can use a transformational leader to combat their limited resources and to engage in strategic management as a method to achieve its mission. All nonprofits provide some community benefit that enables the organization to get the advantages of being a not-for-profit entity (Colombo & Gazzola, 2014). Nonprofits could benefit from operating their organizations in a precise manner like a for-profits to remain relevant in a competitive environment. According to Gazzola et al. the not-for-profit is held accountable; which includes ensuring that the organization is effectively providing the intended benefit or service such as feeding the homeless, environmental protection, or contributing a cultural endeavor.

Charles and Kim (2016) explained that the not-for-profit sector represents a substantial contribution to the United States economy while providing an essential role in the lives of individuals throughout the country and world. Waniak-Michalak and Zarzycka, (2015), concluded that donors select the nonprofits they contribute to and this decision may at times have connections to the reputation of the organization and its leaders along with the personal experiences of the individual donor. Gilstrap and Minchow-Proffitt (2017), asserts the public image of nonprofits becomes driven largely

by the interaction with stakeholders. As indicated by Morrison (2016), in theory, nonprofits rely on donations from the public and donors voice their support of an organization through their donations. The Center on Philanthropy at Indiana University estimates that in 2013, 95.4% of American households donated to charity with an average donation of \$2,974 (Charles & Kim, 2016). Based on the amount of money donated and time spent volunteering to nonprofits provides support for the importance of nonprofits (Grizzle, 2015). According to Uzonwanne (2016), all organizations regardless to being not-for-profit or for-profit need leaders who possess leadership ability as it is pertinent and necessary. Grizzle further explains that leaders need to understand what drives individuals to give to nonprofits due to the significant amount of total donations given to the sector annually. Nonprofits can benefit from learning more about the characteristics of individual donors as it develops its fundraising strategies. Based on the target audience will determine how the messaging they will use as their fundraising strategy (Tysiac, 2016).

### **Funding Types**

Nonprofits do not have investors instead they rely on support from grants and donations to achieve their charitable goals (Waniak-Michalak & Zarzycka, 2015). Osula and Ng (2014) stated that nonprofits have numerous stakeholders who can create fundraising diversity for the organization. A common stakeholder for nonprofits is government funding which can come in the form of grants, contracts, reimbursements, vouchers. Nonprofits seek to leverage multiple funding sources to help with organizational viability. These numerous sources include foundations, government

grants, corporate grants, government contracts, individual donations, private donations, membership dues, service-related fees, product-related fees, charitable gifts, and investments (Ali & Gull, 2016; Omura & Foster, 2014). There have been unexpected growth within the not-for-profit sector, leading to competition for limited financial and human resources and leading to the necessity of distinction among organizations (Čačija, 2016). In recent years, nonprofits organizations have faced challenges with financial instability due to declining sources of revenue, dependency on government grants, and lack of financial strategies. There are growing societal needs coupled with increased competition for donors and grants has created a need for nonprofits to have more human and physical capital than in previous years (Park & Kim, 2016). Osula and Ng (2014), discussed the challenge of not-for-profit leaders is meeting the varying expectations of its funding sources. The challenges of meeting expectations present an impediment to sustainability in some not-for-profit organizations who are not able to raise the increased human and physical capital. Alsalami, Behery, and Abdullah (2014) explain that a transformational leader stresses the necessity of organizational change to bring about creativity and innovation. Due to fundraising challenges, nonprofits have to think outside the box to generate funding for sustainability. The lack of fundraising strategies and donor development skills for nonprofits has been an issue that has led to nonprofits not achieving sustainability.

According to Mataira, Morelli, Matsuoka, and Uehara-McDonald (2014), due to economic changes and uncertainty nonprofits are evaluating their long-term sustainability. These organizations need to work on diversifying their funding by creating

a mixture of funding sources. Mataira et al. (2014) further explained that nonprofits are exposed, and susceptible, as usual, funding sources are exhausted forcing nonprofits to make some tough decisions determining how to generate new revenue sources. The organizations can benefit from diversity in their funding sources, which will help them to continue their operations even if they lose one of their funding sources. Nonprofits funding for operations come from a multitude of sources including donations, special events, government grants, and program revenues (Gaver, Harris, & Im, 2016). Chikoto-Schultz and Neely (2016), stated that nonprofits could accomplish financial sustainability through diversified funding sources such as investment income, government grants and contracts, and private contributions.

Su, Nuryyev, and Aimable (2014) noted over the years; leaders have recognized the significant role that finance plays in the not-for-profit organization. Not-for-profit organizations need to seek creative methods to sustain the organization and avoid relying heavily on philanthropic or government funding to operate. Also, Su et al. (2014) stated not-for-profit organizational leaders must be aware of the need to generate different types of activities to ensure the success of the organization. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations who exhibit transformational leadership characteristics help give them the ability to chariot different funding resources when necessary. When leaders diversify their activities by obtaining different sources of revenue, sustainability is possible. In contrast, if leaders in not-for-profit organizations have a broad spectrum of revenue sources it is likely they can continue to operate with the loss of one funding source.

Challenges. According to Xiaodong et al., (2017) the not-for-profit sector is a

change agent although it must address capacity building issues. As indicated by Gamble and Beer (2017), nonprofits provide increasing economic and social well-being contributions while facing a challenge with the number of individuals they can service. Nonprofits have to strike a balance between achieving their social goals using limited financial resources (Battilana, Sengul, Pache, & Model, 2014). If the not-for-profit plans to continue providing vital services to the community, they need to build up sustainability. In recent years, there has been a trend of constraints on government and funding sources (Routhieaux, 2015). Jungbok (2015) discovered that nonprofits typically lack access to good, quality data which a leader would find useful when fundraising or working on donor development. These changes in the not-for-profit sector created declines in funding amounts. As a result of these changes, some not-for-profit organizations had to reexamine their missions, programs, and operations ensuring that they functioned the most efficient matter possible without compromising the quality of programs and services delivered (Routhieaux et al.). Allen et al. (2016) argued that transformational leaders would need to focus on four behaviors such as charisma, inspiration, intellect, and individuals to motivate its followers to adjust to the changes required for sustainability.

Not-for-profit organizations have additional challenges to sustainability as a result of the increase in competition for limited private donations (Omura & Forster, 2014).

Some nonprofits are struggling to differentiate themselves from other not-for-profit organizations due to the competitive environment for obtaining donations. Funding for not-for-profit organizations varies based on the organization size and field of service. Hu,

Kapucu, and O'Byrne (2014) stated smaller not-for-profit organizations could benefit from transformational leadership as a method to overcome its weaknesses and engage in long-term planning necessary to achieve its goals. If the nonprofits, do not participate in long-term planning they may not be adequately prepared to maintain a proper level of funding.

Consequently, the government is not the sole source of fundraising sources. According to Barber and Farwell (2016), some nonprofits only receive donations as revenue for the organization which can create a level of uncertainty. However, charitable giving is often a vital component of the nonprofit's budget. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations frequently welcome donations as it brings in unrestricted funds, which can be allocated for expenses not covered under grants or contracts (Barber et al.). Covering budget shortfalls when there are insufficient funds for expenses helps keep nonprofits operating; however, some not-for-profit organizations receive earmarked donations. When the earmarking of donations occur, that allows donors the ability to control how and what the donations are used for and what projects will be funded (Toyasaki & Wakolbinger, 2014). The strict enforcement of earmarked donations can lead to problems for the not-for-profit organizations that receive them. According to Viader and Espina (2014), the board of nonprofits is held accountable to their stakeholders which includes those who provide funding and donors which can be a challenge if they have varying ideas for the use of funds. Cicmil and O'Laocha (2016), explained that funders are looking for accountability that their donations will be used wisely through executed programs and projects.

One of the challenges that nonprofits face is how to measure the success of nonprofits including nonmonetary performance along with their mission and objectives (Čačija, 2016). A strategy that nonprofits use in attracting donors is the hosting of special events that help raise funds in support of their mission while attracting donations and creating value through the events (Tysiac, 2016). Nonprofits also use technology to tell their story in creative and charming ways while thanking their donors. According to Mucai, Wanijiku, and Murigi (2014), not-for-profit organizations that depend upon the kindness of individual donors to contribute to the organization's revenue, typically engage in a cycle of seeking funds to operate regardless to whether the funds align with the mission and vision statement of the organization. In such cases, Allen et al. (2016) believe transformational leaders are best suited for organizations where change is constant because of their abilities to change, adapt, and take the risk. Cheney, Merchant, and Killins Jr. (2012) ascertain that grants enable the organization to accomplish a goal, but after that, the funds no longer exist. The uncertainty of grant funding creates a challenge to achieve sustainability when working with funds used for a specific purpose, but it is not used to create long-term sustainability. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations could benefit from the identification of a long-term funding strategy for the sustainability of the organization.

Throughout the years, the not-for-profit sector in the United States has continued to evolve with the additional demands placed on not-for-profit professionals including increased performance expectations (McCann & Kowalski, 2015). Nonprofits must be prepared to meet the extensive requirements of the not-for-profit sector while doing more

work with limited resources. The subordinates in an organization will look to the leadership for direction and guidance. Kim (2014) stated that a transformational leader displays behavior that subordinates will be able to model while facilitating the acceptance of group goals to be accomplished. The transformational leader understands the best way to maximize the organization's resources. Nonprofits often have limited funds to compensate employees combined with limited benefits which can impact the quality of personnel they can hire (Heyne, Gallagher, Coughlan, & Lewin, 2016). According to a study by McCann and Kowalski, directors that received a form of education on a given topic such as fundraising were more confident in those skills versus directors that not receive any training on that topic.

Services. Kirk, Ractham, and Abrahams (2016) explained that nonprofits are critical players in society tasked with making a positive influence in the environment. Not-for-profit organizations provide valuable services to society, but they do not operate without challenges. Rinaldi, Parretti, Salimbeni, and Citti, (2015), explained that nonprofits had seen growth within the sector, but leadership could benefit from training in financial and economic management. Historically, nonprofits had to work on limited resources and organizational capacity while continuing to meet the needs of its clientele (Wade-Berg & Robinson-Dooley, 2015). Not-for-profit leaders face numerous decisions each day concerning the services provided to those in need. According to Rinaldi et al. (2015), not-for-profit leaders have the task to determine the best way to create a growing and sustainable organization. Chan and Mak (2014) stated transformational leaders inspire followers to exceed common aspirations which creates an individual level of

significance that yields a connection to the organization. Not-for-profit organizations operate in an environment that involves constant changes, which require leaders to think more strategically. Wade-Berg et al., stated nonprofits dependence on philanthropy and charitable giving to fund the provision of services is a challenge that the organization needs to address. Valero, Jung, and Andrew (2015) suggested that transformational leaders have that ability to stimulate environments of organizational resiliency by identifying and inspiring actors towards a shared vision for cohesively handling disruptions or disasters. Clients depend on nonprofits to provide meaningful services. The harnessing of resources used and provided by nonprofits can ensure the organization is operating at its peak. Su et al. (2014) concluded the not-for-profit financial performance is crucial to its sustainability and goal attainment.

For-Profit Organizations. Fontes-Filho and Bronstein (2016) explained that for-profit organizations which include companies operating using short-term and long-term goals with the property allocated to shareholders combined with profits and stock value to measure performance. Morrison (2016) indicated that for-profit businesses have a level of oversight by the owners of the company, the board of directors and the stakeholders. Companies made have one owner or multiple owners who are responsible unto the company shareholders (Fontes-Filho & Bronstein). As explained by Lin-hi, Hörisch, and Blumberg, (2015), for-profit and nonprofits share a similarity in the area that they both understand the importance of trust as a part of achieving organizational goals and obtaining long-term success. According to Osula and Ng (2014), one of the significant distinctions between for-profit and not-for-profit revolves around the creation of a

product or service for either making a profit or for social value. As noted by Chan and Mak (2014), in a for-profit company, it is beneficial to have a transformational leader who will hold their leader in high regard, and the leader will guide to not only achieve organizational goals but to motivate them to exceed their typical workload.

### **Fundraising**

Jungbok (2015) discussed that fundraising is one of the most crucial business tasks that not-for-profit leaders do to operate the organization. As indicated by Osula and Ng (2014) not-for-profit leaders spend a significant amount of time and energy focusing on the fundraising including the various stakeholders such as government employees, clients, the communities, and area businesses in part to growing competition. The challenges involved in the fundraising landscape requires leaders to become transformational leaders. As indicated by Burns (1978) transformation occurs when there is an alteration in the structure or a fundamental change of the inner character. The fundamental change can be used to create a transformational leader. Beaton and Hwang (2017), stated due to the rising number of nonprofits and the ensuing levels of competitiveness helped to create a shortage of funding. The result is a decrease in funding resources for nonprofits to handle. Leaders of nonprofits are operating with limited finances and human resources while working in a competitive environment that produces a set of challenges when fundraising (Jungbok). Chen (2016) concluded that nonprofits receive funding from a diverse set of resources with donations accounting for a substantial role in generating funds. However, Bernstein, Buse, and Slatten (2015) identified a positive correlation between fundraising and board member engagement in

community relations and outreach efforts. Chen stated that nonprofits receive funding from fees for products or services provided. Jungbok explained that one of the distinctive characteristics of nonprofits is that the person who benefitted from the organization is typically different than the person who contributes financial resources to the organization. Individuals usually donate due to belief in the cause or because of a relationship with a friend or colleague (Bernstein et al.). Sargeant and Shang (2016) define greatness in fundraising as a result of growth and a significant increase in funds raised. Bernstein et al. stated board members who have training are more likely to be engaged in the fundraising process. Nonprofits need to invest in not only the leadership but also the board members to receive fundraising training to help the organization achieve its fundraising goal. The impact of increased funds has a positive effect on the mission of the organizations. Organizational leadership has to make fundraising a priority to enable the organization to have stable and predictable revenue streams (Turner, Escamilla, & Venta, 2016). Fundraising greatness equals a transformational increase for the organization in proportion to the programs and content which yields to the expansion of societal impact (Sargeant et al.). As indicated by Turner et al. (2016) fundraising needs to be in alignment with the budgeting process. Nonprofits need to incorporate fundraising into the operating procedures of the organization. Sargeant et al. explained that leaders who conduct fundraising use it as an opportunity to enrich the lives of individuals who receive their services and, in the process, are acting as a transformational leader. As explained by Erwin, Landry, and Gibson (2015), a vital aspect of the fundraising process that deserves

monitoring is the relationship with donors and the fact that individuals involved in the fundraising process are fundamental to the success.

Types of Fundraising Activities. Social media has redefined the ways how organizations connect with their community and fundraising activities. Researchers have found that nonprofits can use social media platforms to strengthen existing relationships with supporters and extend their reach (Garczynski, 2016). The number of connections that an organization has played a significant role in the capacity of nonprofits to fundraise on social media. Lipschultz (2015) explains that the expansion of social media has allowed nonprofits to interact with stakeholders and fundraise in a cost-efficient manner. According to Gilstrap and Minchow-Proffitt (2017), an attraction for nonprofits use of social media is that it allows them to reach a massive audience for free on a multitude of networking platforms. Transformational leaders encourage their followers to embrace unconventional thinking when responding to problems (Jyoti & Dev, 2015; Valero, Jung, & Andrew, 2015).

According to Gregg, Pierce, Sweeney, and Lee (2015) in 2012, nonprofits had an increase of 3.5% in year-over-year growth resulting in receiving \$316 billion in donations. Not-for-profit organizations must gain an understanding of what fundraising strategies are most productive for their organization. An urgent issue faced by leaders in not-for-profit organizations is their ability to obtain financial sustainability through fundraising and revenue generating activities (Aschari-Lincoln & Jäger, 2016). Not-for-profit organizations must create a plan of action of fundraising activities that will bring in the needed level of funding to operate its programs and perform services. Not-for-profit

organizations need qualified individuals to conduct fundraising activities. Gregg et al. stated that nonprofits need to invest in identifying which is the most effective fundraising strategy for their organization. Sargeant and Shang (2016), explained that fundraisers leaders have to incorporate their intellect and emotions to achieve the fundraising goal for their respective organization. Successful nonprofits have to maintain diversified revenue sources, develop creative fundraising strategies, and continue to grow its products and services (Aschari-Lincoln et al.). Grizzle (2015), explained that increased levels of brand recognition lead to receiving higher returns on fundraising solicitations and respected nonprofits tend to be more successful with fundraising. Performance is a crucial factor for leaders working on fundraising goals. A study by Gregg et al. (2015) revealed that individuals who had 4 or more years were more likely to be successful in fundraising effectiveness.

Nonprofits organizations deal with the challenge of how to accurately portray a need for funding to solicit funds from donors (Bhati & Eikenberry, 2016). If donors do not see a need, they are less likely to donate to a nonprofit. Due to this predicament, nonprofits have to become creative in their fundraising strategies. The leaders of the organization are responsible for identifying methods to engage potential donors who require a level of innovation. One of the advantages of transformational leadership is the fact that it spurs innovation and the overall performance as a result. Leaders can use this innovation to craft fundraising letters. Nonprofits use distinct types of fundraising letters for fundraising campaigns. Lipovsky (2016) stated the goal of fundraising letters mailed to potential donors is to convince them of the worthiness of the cause and to encourage

them to contribute to the nonprofit. Since the early 1970s across the globe, the not-for-profit sector has continued to grow leading to the evolution of a highly competitive industry (Bhati et al.). As nonprofits are competing for limited donors, they must design fundraising letters that will touch the hearts of the recipients. Sentimental feelings like compassion and sympathy have previously been correlated to be critical to initiating donations which is vital to charitable giving (Lipovsky). A challenge that the not-for-profit organizations have to address is when funding is decreased or eliminated, how do they move forward. Mishra (2016), ascertains it is during these times that nonprofits could face mission drift by seeking any available funding even if it does not align with the mission and vision of the organization. The organization was initially set up with a specific purpose to operate in alignment with their mission statement. Nonprofits need to seek funding that aligns with the organizational purpose.

There are challenges involved in the oversight of the not-for-profit sector that impacts the fundraising for those organizations. Nonprofits are primarily self-regulated where the majority of the oversight occurs by the state attorney general and the Internal Revenue Service (Morrison, 2016). McCann, Kohntopp, and Keeling (2015) stated that transformational leaders recognize talent in followers and concentrates on engaging the person and transforming them from a follower to a leader. These new leaders can become brand ambassadors and help introduce the organization to others. Organizations place a high priority on reputations because they can advance the relationships with stakeholders. A negative rating can reduce the number of donations that the not-for-profit organizations receive (Grant & Potoski, 2015). Another fundraising challenge nonprofits experience is

contending with is the comparison of their performance to other not-for-profit organizations. Grant et al. posited that poor performance of one organization could be associated to other similar organizations, leading to a negative impression which leads the consumers to base their decision from contributions based on the collective reputations versus the individual reputation.

Wiggers (2016) did a study on the importance of fundraising which suggests that it lessens the dependency of the local community-based organizations and nongovernmental organizations on their respective national government. Nevertheless, Naidoo and Wu (2014) argued that nonprofits leaders previously relied heavily on fundraising activities and government grants for the primary source of income. Fundraising is more crucial now as many governments have decreased their allocations to civil society organizations. According to Bucci and Watera (2014), over the last 10 years donations made to the American not-for-profit sector have increased. Local fundraising contributes to the financial sustainability of an organization and disperses financial risks. Organizations that have a variety of funding sources are more likely to be better in a better position to handle the loss of funding sources or other setbacks (Wiggers). Trmal, Bustamam, and Mohamed (2015) stated that transformational leaders are idealistic, motivational, audacious, considerate thinkers, and possess charismatic personalities found in various positions throughout the organization. It will be essential for nonprofits to have leaders at different levels able to inspire others to give through their fundraising efforts for the organization. A newer area for fundraising for not-for-profit organizations is through social media such as Facebook, Flickr, Instagram, Pinterest, Snapchat, or

Twitter. Social media can be a robust tool for increasing awareness at the same time as fundraising (Tysiac, 2016). Nonprofits need to explore ways to build followers on social media. Tysiac, explains that social media will not replace the traditional fundraising methods, but it is a common fundraising tool that can be an alternative to attract younger donors and investors.

# **Donor Development**

Donor development is an important role to be addressed in not-for-profit organizations seeking to be sustainable. Harris-Keith (2016) explained that one of the leadership skills required for success includes fundraising and donor relations, which is also an area where additional training is needed. Donors want to ensure that contributions can obtain maximum benefit (Byrd & Cote, 2016). Chen (2016) concluded that governance of nonprofits impacts donations received. Halina and Ewelina (2015) and Harris, Petrovits, and Yetman (2015) discovered that donations coincide with strong governance, independent audits, board oversight, good management characteristics, and easy access to financial information. Donors are most likely to donate to the organization when there is accountability, governance, and transparency. According to López-Arceiz, Bellostas Pérezgrueso and Rivera Torres (2017), transparency produces the ability to attract financial resources, create strategic value, and to promote economic efficiency. Nonprofits should seek to satisfy the needs of the donors when building relationships with donors. A not-for-profit should ensure that the needed information is readily accessible to the stakeholder and done transparently, as public understanding, and trust in the organization, serve as conditions necessary to find donors (Gazzola, Ratti, & Amelio,

2017). Donors are looking for the return on their investment or assurances that their donation is having a positive impact on the organization (Tysiac, 2016).

Not-for-profit leaders need to dedicate sufficient time to building strong relationships with the donors for their organization. These donor relationships will prove to be useful when fundraising. According to Trmal, Bustamam and Mohamed (2015), stated that transformational leaders possess the skills to understand what motivates team members which enables the leaders to assign the appropriate staff to fundraising duties. Fundraising is an important aspect the leaders of a not-for-profit have to complete. A motivated employee is more prone to be successful when completing a task. In recent years, Xiaodong et al. (2017) discovered that funders are providing more attention and funding support to organizational capacity. If a not-for-profit builds organizational capacity, it can help through fundraising adequate funds to create a sustainable organization. Organizations need to manage their relationship with stakeholders because the stronger the relationship is with stakeholders, the higher the probability of success (Pressgrove, 2017). Nonprofits seeking sustainability need a developed relationship with its donors as it can lead to a stronger fundraising campaign.

### **Corporate Social Responsibility**

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is an area of increasing importance as stakeholders are more interested in holding leaders accountable for not only the financial issues of the organization but also the triple bottom line: people, environment, and revenue (Stryker & Stryker, 2017). According to Lin-hi, Hörisch, and Blumberg, (2015), in the not-for-profit domain corporate social responsibility is a general term for the social

responsibility of organizations. Rim, Yang, and Lee (2016) explained that the creation of a partnership with a not-for-profit to create involvement in cause-supporting activities, which will help a company to be distinctive and invoke emotions and associations related to the partnership.

Not-for-profit organizations need to be well-organized and expend money wisely. The corporate social responsibility reporting includes metrics for cost savings from efforts in energy efficiency, waste reduction, and recycling. (Gazzola, Ratti, & Amelio, 2017). Additionally, James (2015) explained the importance of nonprofits competitively positioning themselves through the engagement of sustainability reporting. Kerr, Rouse and de Villers (2015) said that sustainability reporting is becoming a common practice among organizations worldwide. Saving money is just one of the top motivations for achieving sustainability. Particularly, when dealing with fixed budgets, and leaders cannot change them. According to James, organizations have seen the value in a sustainability report as it enhances the company's ability to achieve long-range goals effectually and proficiently. Organizations have to focus on sustainability to continue providing service to its customers in the future (Kerr et al.). A leader of a not-for-profit might focus on creating a report on the core services offered by the organization and identifying steps for users to ensure the continuation of programs.

Leaders of not-for-profit organizations need to operate efficiently to prevent wasting money and resources (Gazzola, Ratti, & Amelio, 2017). There is a correlation between corporate social responsibility and transformational leadership. Corporate social responsibility has the potential to contribute to an organization having a competitive

benefit (Veríssimo & Lacerda, 2015). Nonprofits operate in a competitive environment thus creating the need to differentiate the organizations from others in the same field.

Sustainability is a multifaceted concept that has a variety of meanings (Pati & Lee, 2016). Bhanot and Bapat (2015) explained that it is important to note that financial sustainability is only a primary component of sustainability. James (2015) indicated that organizations of various sizes embrace sustainability as a method to preserve resources for future generations while continuing to produce value for the present generations. Corporate social responsibility includes business practices that address economic, legal, ethical, and philanthropic endeavors of the organization (Kima & Kimb, 2016). Kerr, Rouse, and de Villiers (2015) stated an organization should concentrate on sustainability efforts as it works to provide ongoing services to its customers.

### **Sustainability**

Due to economic shifts have led nonprofits to examine ways they can obtain sustainability. Sustainability means different things to different organizations; to include having economic, social, and environmental dimensions, which makes it challenging to quantify (Banerjee, 2011; Chin, Schuster, Tanzil, Beloff & Cobb, 2015; Hailey & Salway, 2016). Adams, Muir, and Hoque (2014) explain there is no one agreed upon definition of sustainability regarding performance measures as that is inclusive of stakeholder engagement, economic impacts on the organization, and financial measures in addition to the analysis of the financial accounts. According to Hailey et al. the definition for not-for-profit sustainability is the ability to continue to fulfill its mission; over time, while at the same time meeting the needs of relevant stakeholders, especially

its beneficiaries and supporters. McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, (2015), explained that although nonprofits face challenges to sustainability while seeking to fulfill the missions in their communities, the sector continues to have growth. Sustainability is an on-going process not a single act of achievement. According to McDonald et al. managers of not-for-profit indicate that one of the primary and urgent obstacles is the fiscal sustainability of the organization, which can prevent it from achieving its mission.

In today's business environment, leaders cannot ignore the expectations for notfor-profit organizations to operate sustainably. Consequently, nonprofits bear the
responsibility to have a leader in place who is capable of transforming the behaviors
necessary to meet these challenges (Allen et al., 2016; Asencio, 2016; Bass & Avolio,
1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006; Fitzgerald & Schutte, 2010; Jyoti & Dev, 2015; Mozommel
& Haan, 2016; Sang et al., 2016; Valero, Jung, & Andrew, 2015). There is an expectation
that nonprofits will be sustainable. The desired business is when the organization can
generate a profit while achieving its social objectives. As opined by Green and Dalton
(2016), a financially sound organization can maintain its economic goals and social
justice goals without compromises.

Sustainability is a word that is becoming used more frequently in organizations. In 2009, not-for-profit organizations spent \$1.9 trillion to the nation's economy making investments in all 50 states (Williams-Gray, 2016). Thus, it is essential that not-for-profit organizations are sustainable because of the value they contribute to meeting societal needs. Most organizations have a goal to become or remain a sustainable organization.

Sustainability satisfies the requirements of the present without endangering the ability of future generations to meet their respective needs (Craig & Allen, 2013). When organizations are considering ways that will allow the organization to be sustainable, they must ensure the actions will not inhibit future growth potentials (Craig et al.).

Fifka, Kühn, Loza Adaui, and Stiglbauer, (2016) defined sustainability as encompassing the economic, social, and environmental components. Renukappa, Egbu, Akintoye and Suresh (2013) noted sustainability concerns the management of an organization's total business including the impact on its immediate stakeholders, the society, and the environment in which it operates. One of the most significant concerns for most not-for-profit organizations is the economic or financial sustainability and the identification of strategies for development to access new funds or the ability to ensure financial viability and sustainability (Hailey & Salway, 2016). Mucai, Wanijku, and Murigi (2014) posited a project is sustainable when it can continue providing benefits to its clientele for an extended period, particularly after the financial assistance has ended. Follman, Cseh, and Brudney (2016) and Stecker (2014) explained that the leaders of notfor-profit organizations build relationships which leads to revenue that allows the not-forprofit to achieve its mission. However, not-for-profit organizations can heavily rely on external resources such as donors, which is often an inconsistent source of revenue. In some instances, funders donate to organizations based on their comfort level with the relationship with the leadership and they might not continue to donate if the leadership of the organization changes which presents a challenge for sustainability (Morgen Stahl, 2013). Mucai et al. (2014) noted some not-for-profit organizations must face diminishing

resources while they attempt to secure as many donations as possible, which can lead to a decreased level of effectiveness for the not-for-profit organization.

Not-for-profit organizations are under growing pressure to rely on different sources of income such as commercial, partnerships with public agencies, and private forprofit corporations to maintain a sustainable level of funding (Valentinov & Vacekova, 2015). The lack of sufficient revenue can lead to a reduction in the services, experienced staff become laid off, and a decrease in continued education for staff (Hailey & Salway, 2016). Due to the challenges, nonprofits face they need transformational leaders who are also visionary leaders to help in the formation of an inspirational vision for the future. This new vision provides a critical role in in the development of new services and products for the organization which may be necessary for sustainability. According to Renukappa, Egbu, Akintoye, and Suresh (2013), sustainability is a multifaceted issue involving various processes executed and influenced by stakeholders that establish the tone and guide corporate decisions. Not-for-profit organizations success or failure depends on their ability to judge the business climate and evolve with the changing times. Smith (2014) explains sustainability is a trend that continues to grow, as business organizations examine diverse ways to leverage this trend. Not-for-profit organizations must understand how to undertake sustainability practices. Further, Smith states the sustainability practices include monitoring the financial performance and understanding how it relates to the strategic planning objectives.

Nonprofits can engage in creative partnerships and use shared leadership to help create a sustainable organization. The survival of not-for-profit organizations is

dependent upon obtaining and maintaining of funding over an extended period (Besel et al., 2004). Not-for-profit organizations typically employ leaders who concentrate on meeting the needs of the community that are currently being unfulfilled. Not-for-profit organizations have a distinct business model (Cullom & Cullom, 2011). At times, the focus is on the mission and vision without considering the sustainability of the organization. Valero, Jung, and Andrew (2015) believed that transformational leaders could exchange ideas to meet the needs of both organizations and the communities they serve.

Routhieaux (2015) noted that in recent years, there had been a trend of constraints on government and foundation sources amongst other funding sources. These changes have created challenges for nonprofits due to the decreased funding amounts and not-forprofit allocations. Sustainability is a necessity if the organization is going to operate efficiently (Cullom & Cullom, 2011). In seeking to work efficiently, organizations that engage in shared leadership provides solutions for nonprofits to continue fulfilling their mission and vision while generating a profit. According to Ghasabeh, Soosay, and Reaiche (2015), transformational leaders' engagement in organizational innovation allows the leaders to facilitate the creation of new knowledge and ideas which may serve as motivation for employees. It is essential that the entire organization work together to fulfill the goals of the partnership. Therefore, some nonprofits have reexamined their missions, programs, and operations to identify efficient ways they can operate while building sustainability (Routhieaux). As explained by Sheremenko, Escalante, and Florkowski (2017), financial sustainability means to become financially self-sufficient

versus relying on aid from donors. The collaboration between nonprofits and the business sector that will enable nonprofits to continue solving society's problem while producing revenue for their organization. As Cullom and Cullom continues, the creation of income can help nonprofits achieve a sustainable model.

Nonprofits are operating in a constrained environment where it is crucial that they maintain their economic viability and growth, and this has become a serious issue for addressing (Al-tabbaa, Leach, & March, 2014). There are a limited number of donors which raises concerns over the financial sustainability of the organization. Some nonprofits face challenges when they depend on one funding source to cover the majority of expenses for the organization (Preece, 2015). Nonprofits need to have a continual flow of revenue for the organization while being cognizant of the challenges of being heavily dependent upon limited revenue services (Ryan & Irvine, 2012). Bilodeau, Podger, and Abd-El-Aziz (2014) stated a useful strategy that nonprofits should use is the establishment of revenue generating programs, which would enable the organization to be sustainable while continuing to operate its programs and services. Having a limited number of donors can threaten an organization's financial sustainability and the ability to provide services. As noted by Preece (2015), nonprofits need to obtain a diverse set of funding sources and not be dependent upon one funding source. If an issue arises with the predominant funding source which can result in the not-for-profit receiving a decreased amount of funding causing the not-for-profit not to be able to maintain its operation with the remaining funding sources (Ryan and Irvine, 2012).

Sustainability becomes an even greater issue when governments reduce the number of grants they give in times of reduced budgets, which can create an environment of financial uncertainty. Kim (2015) and Lu (2015) explained that the government is one of the most critical sources of funding for not-for-profit organizations. There are levels of uncertainty about the levels of government funding awarded yearly and concerns about future allocations (Al-tabbaa, Leach, & March, 2014). Ryan and Irvine (2012) suggest that nonprofits avoid being over-reliant on one primary funding source such as government funding but instead have diversified funding sources. Due to the changing funding landscape, charities are relying more heavily on grants than in previous years (Su & Walters, 2013). The changes associated with the funding landscape puts not-for-profit organizations more at risk of financial instability. The long-term sustainability of nonprofits depends on their capacity to be efficient, competitive, profitable, have legitimacy, and create lasting impact in the communities in which it serves (Yu, 2016). To be successful not-for-profit organizations need to understand each funding source and how to expend it efficiently to maximize the opportunity for sustainability (Preece, 2015).

### **Summary and Transition**

The information in Section 1 comprised the need for not-for-profit organizations to be sustainable so they can continue providing valuable services to the communities in which it serves. Section 1 included a specific business problem and a valid research question. The study may benefit not-for-profit leaders who are looking to identify specific fundraising strategies and donor development skills needed for their

organizations to be sustainable. The literature review consisted of an in-depth synthesis of previous studies researchers performed to validate why sustainability is vital to a not-for-profit organization. My research study consisted of two additional sections.

Section 2 presents the role of the researcher to ensure the readers understood the responsibility the researcher used when conducting the study to eliminate bias and to provide the protection for the participants. Section 2 presented the explanation for the process to select the participants. The methodology and decision selected for the study expanded upon the reason for the chosen method and design as the best choices for this study. It also included a rationale for the proposed data collection process. Section 3 presented the findings of the study, the conclusion, and recommendations for future studies.

### Section 2: The Project

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the fundraising strategies and donor development skills that not-for-profit leaders used to sustain their business. The targeted population was a not-for-profit organizations' leaders in a Michigan-based not-for-profit organization that served the underprivileged, leaders who have demonstrated fundraising strategies and donor development skills that enable sustainability. The results of this study could contribute to social change by identifying strategies that can help not-for-profit organizations become financially sustainable so that not-for-profit organizations can continue providing quality services in the local communities they serve while maintaining a consistent level of employment for employees.

In Section 2, I focus on the management strategies that leaders of a not-for-profit organization used to sustain their organization beyond 5 years. Currently, there are over 1.5 million not-for-profit organizations that play critical roles in the U.S. economy (Gonzalez, 2018). However, financial sustainability remains one of the primary concerns that not-for-profit organizations face, due to a variety of factors such as fundraising efforts and budgetary issues (Gonzalez, 2018). In this section, I define the methods I used to explore the fundraising strategies and donor development skills that leaders of a not-for-organization used to sustain their organization beyond 5 years. The main topics in Section 2 included the role of the researcher, research method, research design, population and sampling, the participants, and ethical research practices.

#### Role of the Researcher

In this qualitative, single case study, I collected, analyzed, organized, and interpreted the data. I was responsible for the data collection for this doctoral study. The primary goal was to add value to not-for-profit organizations and their ability to achieve sustainability. Interviews and questionnaires were the primary data collection tools used for this doctoral study. Qualitative methods often rely on interviews with a subset of individuals who possess specific characteristics (Kristensen & Ravn, 2015). I used a digital recorder to capture the dialog in the interview. The interviewee's preference determined the time of the interviews. The interview process consisted of a standard list of questions that the interviewer asked of all interviewees as a part of the interview protocol. I sought to obtain consistency by asking all respondents the same set of questions. I used semistructured questions when speaking with the interviewees to allow themto expound on the data as needed to capture their lived experiences. The use of open-ended interviews allowed for self-reflection—a trademark of qualitative research (Opsal et al., 2016).

The recording of the interviews provided me the opportunity to fully engage with the interviewee without worrying about missing information in my notes. After the completion of the interview, I promptly began the verbatim transcription of the recordings. Categorization of the data ensued, according to the themes related to the research question. Key sentences and phrases had coding done for analysis purposes (Kristensen & Ravn, 2015). Kristensen et al. ensured that participants received a copy of the transcription for member checking purposes and to limit bias. Data collection

continued until reaching the point of data saturation (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2015).

I had extensive experience related to not-for-profit organizations and had worked in the not-for-profit community since 2002. I currently works as an executive director for a not-for-profit organization that provides technical assistance to other not-for-profit organizations. I did not have any relationship with the not-for-profit organization involved in this study. I worked with not-for-profit organizations of varying sizes in over 28 states throughout her career and continued to be active in the not-for-profit community serving on committees and being an advisor. I had experience working with not-for-profit organizations on methods to achieve sustainability for their organization. However, I did not have any direct experience with financial and donor development strategies.

I adhered to the principles and guidelines contained in the Belmont Report protocol for ethical treatment of participants. A few of the critical tenets of the Belmont Report was respect for all persons, beneficence, and justice (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014). The Belmont Report outlined the standards of how to ethically treat study participants including vulnerable populations. Study participants must be able to give informed consent and receive the opportunity to determine what will or will not happen to them (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). The participants should be at least 18 years of age or older, not in prison, and not mentally incapacitated. Participants received a complete disclosure of the purpose of the study and usage of the data collected. Each participant signed informed consent form for participation with the ability to withdraw any time from the study.

### **Participants**

There were four primary criteria that I looked for in a participant. First, the participants for this study were managers and directors of a Michigan not-for-profit organization. Second, the participants had sufficient knowledge of the subject matter of fundraising strategies and donor development skills. Third, the participant's job within the organization involved fundraising, cultivating relationships with the donor or working to create a sustainable organization. Lastly, the participants had 3 or more years of direct experience with fundraising and donor development skills.

I followed the outlined steps below to gain access to the participants. I worked to solicit a list of potential participants with the primary point of contact for the organization. The selection of participants for the study helped shape the research questions, data collection, data analysis, and findings (Reybold, Lammert, & Stribling, 2013). The participants had to be able to make a meaningful impact on the various facets of the research (Yin, 2014). All individuals identified as potential participants received notification via email for the criteria and permission to participate in the study. Before participating in the study, individuals received a written summary of the goals and objectives of the research (Habibi & Zargham-Boroujeni, 2015; Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, Ghahiri, Ketefian, 2015; Yardley, Watts, Pearson, & Richardson, 2013). I retained copies of the informed consent form for all participants of the study. The interviews for this case study occurred at the time convenient for the interviewees (Yin). I conducted the interviews where the not-for-profit leaders conducted business. The purpose of this decision was to engage in observations of the participant in their work environment

(Petrulaitiene & Jylhä, 2015; Reybold et al., Yen, Trede, & Patterson, 2016). The observations of the participants were useful for the triangulation of the data (Abdalla, Oliveira, Azevedo, & Gonzalez, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Patton, 2015). In an effort, to maximize the limited time with the participants, I asked to conduct the meetings in an area outside of the workspace of the participants to minimize any distractions (Brunia, De Been & van der Voordt, 2016; Bryant, 2012; Plester & Hutchison, 2016).

I used three methods for data collection for the study: recorded interviews, handwritten notes to capture nuances, and documentation (financial records, public website data, results of fundraising campaigns, and evidence of donor development cultivation representing 5 years of growth) from the organization to triangulate the data a practice as suggested by Yin (2014). During the interviews with employees, I recorded and afterward transcribed the interview. I asked participants for oral and written permission to record the interviews and provided assurance the data usage was solely for the research study (Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, Ghahiri, Habibi, & Zargham-Boroujeni, 2015). As suggested by Ketefian (2015), participants could withdraw from the study at any time. All information gathered from the participants would remain private and confidential. I was responsible for facilitating the conversation to accomplish the research goals while remaining unbiased (Yin).

# **Research Method and Design**

#### **Research Method**

A qualitative study with a case study design was the research method for this study to address the research question. The use of a case study design described specific

fundraising knowledge and donor development skills that Michigan not-for-profit leaders could use to build sustainable organizations. Researchers, use qualitative research to emphasize the essential nature of the investigation and questions to explore the meaning of social experiences (Sarma, 2015). Using qualitative research, I sought to uncover the mechanisms not-for-profit leaders used through their lived experiences. The choice of research method was driven in part by the research questions, foundation, and objectives (Venkatesh, Brown, & Sullivan, 2016).

In this research, I sought to obtain rapport with the interviewees to help them feel more comfortable during the interview process. In qualitative research, rapport is of particular importance due to the setting of conducting interviews as a data collection method (Hiller & Vears, 2016). Merriam and Tisdell (2015) explain the use of quantitative research is for precise measurement and the statistical hypothesis testing. I did not seek to do a precise measurement or to test a statistical hypothesis; therefore, the quantitative methodology was not appropriate for this study. Venkatesh, Brown, and Sullivan (2016) stated the use of mixed method research is applicable when the intent is to view the entire situation to explain a phenomenon for which existing research is incomplete, inconclusive, or vague. The use of mixed methods is expensive and time-consuming and is applicable when neither quantitative nor qualitative methods are adequate by themselves to fully understand (Gobo, 2015); therefore, the mixed methods methodology was not appropriate for this study.

### **Research Design**

The researcher used a single case study as the research design. The use of the case study design allowed the researcher to gain insight into fundraising knowledge and donor development skill that not-for-profit organizational leaders in Michigan used to sustain their businesses. A properly executed case study allowed for a thorough comprehension of a particular phenomenon (Dresch, Lacerda, & Miguel, 2015). The use of case study allowed for the opportunity for the addressing of the research question to focus on the intended subject (Dresch et al.). Case studies are useful to obtain a more in-depth and inclusive intelligence of phenomena versus the use of other approaches (Henry & Foss, 2015). The case study had been determined to be an acceptable research strategy when conducting exploratory research and addressed the *how* and *why* questions (Yin, 2012; Yin, 2014). The how and why questions in case study research helped explain the reason an activity occurs.

The other possible research designs included ethnography and phenomenology. Ethnography is a distinguishing type of research and a complicated research method that focuses on human culture (Gheradi, 2015; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I did not focus on observing human culture; therefore, the ethnography design was not appropriate. Budd and Velasquez (2014) explain that phenomenology is essentially the study of phenomena where it seeks to explore the thing in which one perceives. As such there can be multiple perceptions of an object. Budd and Velasquez operate on the perspectives of outcomes first. Phenomenology does not have one mutually agreed upon definition, and it features several distinctions (Patton, 2015). A phenomenology method is an approach that entails

many subtle distinctions and addressing subjective experiences (Gill, 2014).

Phenomenology design is most useful for understanding the lived experiences of subjects.

A participant's assumptions, prejudices, and subjective experience could introduce biases to this study; therefore, the phenomenological design was not appropriate.

It was paramount that I identify a sufficient number of participants to achieve data saturation. Typically, 15 to 20 interviews are adequate to achieve data saturation and to determine the trends from the collected materials (Martelli et al., 2015). The interviewer recognized data saturation has occurred when there is, no new information received from the participants during the interview. I was observant during the interviews to determine if any new information was forthcoming to support the phenomenon.

## **Population and Sampling**

There were several types of sampling methods that could be potential options for the study such as random sampling, purposeful sampling, snowball sampling, or quota sampling. I selected purposeful sampling for this qualitative case study to interview potential participants that had relevant experience, knowledge of the subject matter, and successful strategies of the donor development strategies (Jones, 2014; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yilmaz, 2013). I used purposive sampling to discover, understand, and gain insight from the appropriate participants about donor development skills and financial strategies (Merriam et al., 2015; O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed & Cook, 2014; Yin, 2015). The sample size in qualitative studies is pertinent due to the complexity of data collected from participants (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Merriam et al. 2015, O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). In purposeful sampling, there is no set number of participants

to interview, but instead, sample size occurs when data saturation is reached (Gentles, Charles, Ploeg & McKibbon, 2015; Merriam & Tisdell; van Rijnsoever, 2017).

The definition for data saturation is the point at which the data collection does not produce any new or relevant data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Oberoi, Jiwa, McManus, & Hodder, 2015; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). I knew data saturation was complete in this study when during the interview, it yields no additional information but instead yields the same information (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, & Cook, 2014; Yin, 2014). I engaged in member checking with the interviewees where they received the opportunity to review the analysis of the interview for accuracy (Hadi & José Closs, 2016; Merriam et al.; Simpson, & Quigley, 2016). I also used member checking if changes occurred to the analysis of the interview, the interviewees had a second opportunity to review the information again for accuracy (Hadi et al., 2016; Merriam et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2016).

The sample size is small in qualitative research and not concentrated on including a certain number of participants (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). The projected target population for this study was five leaders in a not-for-profit organization that works in Michigan. The eligibility criteria for this study were (a) participant in a leadership position that is responsible for donor development and financial strategies for the organization with at least 5 years of experience, (b) at least 18 years of age, and (c) available for a face-to-face interview, (d) and was willing to participate. My approach enabled participants to share their rich

background of comprehensive knowledge of successful donor development skills and fundraising strategies used to sustain not-for-profit organizations.

### **Ethical Research**

I engaged in the informed consent process for all participants in this study, so each had adequate information about the research, thereby avoiding overt or implicit coercion so that all possible participants are enabled to make an informed decision about their involvement in the research (Parsons, 2015). According to Parsons, adequate information for the participants includes an informational sheet on the research, what it entails for participation, the fact that participation is voluntary, and the method for the data storage. The use of informed consent is to connect ethical principles for researchers and participants including the methods to use for the protection of their confidentiality (Lin, 2016; Rumney, Anderson, & Ryan, 2015). When the individuals decided, they would participate in the study they received the consent form to sign (Appendix). No participants received incentives for their participation. I received Walden University IRB approval number 07-11-18-0475144 for this study before contacting participants for the study. Merriam and Tisdell (2015) and Yin (2015) recommended asking for a statement of informed consent from participants at the onset of the recorded interview. At the beginning of the interview, I reconfirmed with participants their willing participation in the study using the same language from the consent form. I protected the anonymity of the participants when recording and transcribing the interviews (Yin). According to Greaney et al. (2012), novice researchers need to understand the requirements included in the Belmont Report to disclose participants have the right to withdraw from the study at

any time through a written request, through email, in person, or over the telephone. To ensure that the ethical protection of participants was adequate, I followed the guidelines in the Belmont Report (Greaney et al.).

The study represented adherence to the Walden University ethical guidelines and adhered to the Belmont Report protocols to maintain ethical standards (Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, & Khodyakov, 2015). I sought to protect the anonymity of participants. One method to ethically preserve the anonymity of participants and organizations is to use pseudonyms for the identification of participants and the organization. Pseudonyms can replace the real names of participants, including the ability for searching, and if necessary, tracing them back to real identities (Lin, 2016). The data from this study does not contain any information that could aid in the identification of any of the participants personally, or organizations because there was a need to disclose the data confidentially and explained the method of storage for the information to protect the privacy of participants (Greaney et al., 2012). For 5 years, there will be secure storage of the data, recorded interviews, and supporting documents. The maintenance of the data and information will occur in a password protected USB memory drive throughout 5 years. The location of the hard copy of the data will be in a locked box for no less than 5 years. The engagement of these steps was to ensure the protection of confidential information obtained from participants, through interviews, and from supporting documentation.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

Data collection was the first stage in the research process, which helps researchers enhance the quality of a social research study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Rimando, 2015;

Yin, 2015). The researcher can be the primary data collection instrument in qualitative research (Akaeze, 2016; Lincoln & Guba, 2013; Yin, 2014). As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative single case study Merriam and Tisdell (2015); Sidorova, Arnaboldi, and Radaelli (2016); and Yin (2015) mentioned that information collection could include face-to-face interviews, semistructured interviews, interview transcriptions, and analysis of steps taken. These collection instruments can help researchers gain a situational description of the not-for-profit leaders fundraising strategies and donor development skills. I conducted a qualitative single case research study using semistructured interviews and collection of company documentation.

A semistructured interview is a method used by qualitative researchers to solicit facts and knowledge about the phenomenon through a sequence of interview questions (Mojtahed, Nunes, Martins, & Peng, 2014). The use of semistructured interviews can foster an environment for the introduction, development, and discussion of ideas and meanings at length to understand the phenomenon (Mojtahed et al., 2014). I used the interview questions as a guide which directed the qualitative interview (Yin, 2015). I used an interview protocol as a part of my data collection, which included eight interview questions designed to capture interview responses, ensured consistency, and facilitated recording of accurate transcriptions of the action taken by each leader (Appendix).

The interview questions were part of a protocol for quality control and ensured each participant received the same questions for uniformity during the interview process.

Before the recording of the interview, I sought permission from each interviewee. Also, I obtained written authorization from the participant that they are voluntary participating in

the study, the usage of the information collected, the methods used for the protection of their privacy, and methods for the secure storing of data. Member checking occurred by asking the interviewees to review the interview summary for reliability and validity purposes.

Data collection is the first stage in the research process, which helps researchers enhance the quality of a social research study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Rimando, 2015; Yin, 2015). As explained by Lincoln and Guba (2013); Merriam & Tisdell; Stake (2010), I will be the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative single case study. Merriam & Tisdell; Sidorvova, Arnaboldi, and Radaeli (2016); and mentioned that information collection could include face-to-face interviews, semistructured interviews, interview transcriptions, and analysis of steps taken. These collection instruments can help researchers gain a situational description of the not-for-profit leaders fundraising strategies and donor development skills. I conducted a qualitative single case research study using semistructured interviews and collection of company documentation.

A semistructured interview is a method used by qualitative researchers to solicit facts and knowledge about the phenomenon through a sequence of interview questions (Holland, 2017; Mojtahed, Nunes, Martins, & Peng, 2014; Yin, 2015). The use of semistructured interviews can foster an environment for the introduction, development, and discussion of ideas and meanings at length to understand the phenomenon (Holland; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Mojtahed et al., 2014). I used the interview questions as a guide which was used to direct the qualitative interview (Merriam & Tisdell; Yin, 2014; Yin, 2015). I used an interview protocol; as a part of her data collection instruments,

which included the seven interview questions designed to capture interview responses, ensured consistency, and facilitated recording of accurate transcriptions of the action taken by each leader (Appendix).

The interview questions were part of a protocol for quality control and to ensure each participant had the same questions for uniformity during the interview process (Holland, 2017; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015.; Yin, 2015). Before the recording of the interview, I sought permission from each interviewee (Akaeze, 2016; Merriam et al., 2015; Yin, 2015). Also, I obtained written authorization from the participant that they were voluntarily participating in the study, how the information collected would be used, the ways used for the protection of their privacy, and methods for the secured storing of data. Member checking occurred by asking the interviewees to review the interview analysis for reliability and validity purposes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Merriam et al., 2015; Yin, 2015). Appendix contains the interview protocol and interview questions.

### **Data Collection Technique**

Walden University IRB permitted me to perform this research project before data collection began (O'Brian et al., 2014; Wenner, 2016; Yin, 2015). Upon approval from Walden University (Approval No. 07-11-18-0475144), I began the data collection process.

I did not conduct a pilot study (Dikko, 2016; Eldridge et al., 2016; Samaan et al., 2015). The primary data collection consisted of semistructured interviews, interview notes, and company document collection (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2014; Yin, 2015). Additionally, I reviewed brochures, financial report, and the organization's

website to understand the mechanisms used for donor development and fundraising. The anticipated documentation for collection included annual reports, information from the organization's website, and fundraising reports. The interview protocol included the introduction of the interview and set the tone for the interview (Appendix). The process for the semistructured interviews consisted of an introduction, opening script, interview questions, and a closing. Before conducting the interview, I gave participants the option to select a suitable location to minimize distractions and sought permission to audio record the contents of the interview (Merriam & Tisdell; Nelson, 2016; Theil, Bagdasarov, Harkrider, Johnson, & Mumford, 2012). I began the interview stating the purpose of the research project and to build rapport with the participant. I anticipated interviewing five participants.

After the introduction and opening, I started to record each interview for accuracy and to create a thorough interview transcript (Rabionet, 2011; Theil, Bagdasarov, Harkrider, Johnson, & Mumford, 2012; Yin, 2015). I followed a scripted interview questionnaire consisting of the open-ended question while recording the response to compensate for accuracy while transcribing the data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Mertens, 2014; Yin). During the interview, I watched for nonverbal cues such as facial expressions and body language as a method of data collection (Merriam & Tisdell; Yin, 2014; Yin). When applicable, I asked, follow-up questions to probe for clarity and additional information. Interpretation is a component of observation (Stake, 2010; Yin). The interviews ended with a closing and a thank you to the participants along with my contact information for any future questions or concerns. On a subsequent visit, I asked to

observe the participant as they engaged in donor development activities and communications along with the usage of the donor development software. As I observed the participants, I looked for actions and behaviors that corresponded to the implementation steps the participants shared in the interview regarding donor development and fundraising strategies. The data collection occurred throughout four weeks. I recorded, transcribed, and analyzed each interview. The storage of the interview transcripts was placed on a password protected memory stick and will remain locked in a storage box for 5 years after which time permanent erasure of the data on the memory stick will occur. The audio recordings will be in a locked file cabinet for 5 years after which time permanent erasure of all audio recordings will occur.

There are various advantages and disadvantages associated with the qualitative methods of data collection and analysis in the research project. The advantages of using the qualitative research method to collect data involve allowing the researcher to conduct face-to-face interviews with in-depth commentary, take reflective notes, and gives researchers the ability to observe participants as they explore the phenomenon. (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Saldaña, 2015; Stake, 2010; Yin, 2015). Another advantage of a face-to-face interview is the collection of lived experiences and knowledge of best practices from the participants (Merriam & Tisdell; Stake; Yin). While data collection has its advantages, it also has its share of disadvantages. Observation may not always be practical as participants may not have the ability to modify their schedule for the researcher for a face-to-face interview (Bamu, Schauwer & Hove, 2016; Merriam & Tisdell; Yin, 2014). Another disadvantage of observing a face-to-face interview is

determining what to observe when multiple events are occurring at one time (Merriam & Tisdell; Stake; Yin). I requested permission to shadow leaders as they use donor development or fundraising software. Shadowing will be for on-the-job learning and for career advancement which can lead to learning more about a subject matter (Jones, Okeke, Bullock, Wells, & Monrouxe, 2016; Service, Dalgic, & Thornton, 2016; Xiong, 2016). During the shadowing process, I ensured that I did not have access to any personally identifying information about donors or confidential records.

I scheduled a follow-up meeting so that the interviewee can participate in member checking through the review of my analysis of responses for accuracy and completeness. If there were any discrepancies, I would make the necessary corrections to my analysis of responses, and I would provide the interviewee with a second opportunity to review the summary of my analysis of the interview. I used member checking to ensure the collection of precise information, and member checking occurred throughout the verification of interview responses to the questions by the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2015).

## **Data Organization Technique**

Conducting qualitative case study research involves the collection and organization of empirical data (Dos Santos Bortolocci Espejo, Portulhak, & Pacheco, 2017; Kimball, 2016; Senom & Othman, 2014; Yin, 2014). Chen, Mao, and Liu (2014), Merriam and Tisdell (2015); Yin (2015) maintained that the researcher is responsible for the data collection, storage, and analysis. The identification of themes and codes for the data analysis and the interpretation will be essential to the data analysis process (Elo et

al., 2014; Yin, 2015). To obtain a clear interpretation of meaning, the coding of the themes and the organizing according to the data, concepts, and experiences obtained by the interviewees with the goal of producing high-quality data analysis.

Akaeze (2016) and Holland (2017) states it is helpful to compile data in an organized manner and qualitative researchers engage numerous methods during the data collection process. My case study research involved the collection and organization of data acquired through interview notes, a digital recording device, and the transcription of interview data collected from the face-to-face semistructured interviews that consist of 7 questions. Coding enables the researcher to protect the confidentiality and privacy of the participants (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2014; Yin, 2015). The participants received a code such as P1, P2, P3, and so forth to protect the confidentiality of the participants and protect any personally identifying or confidential information contained in the interview transcripts.

I recorded, transcribed, and analyzed each interview. The storage of the interview transcripts are on a password protected memory stick and will remain locked in a storage box for 5 years after which time permanent erasure of the data on the memory stick will occur. The audio recordings are in a locked file cabinet for 5 years after which time permanent erasure of all audio recordings will occur.

# **Data Analysis**

At the end of the interviews, I transcribed the interviews and field notes leading to the beginning of the data analysis process. Frequently in studies, qualitative interview data is the primary strategy researchers use to obtain the in-depth meaning of lived experiences of participants in their words (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015, Yin, 2014). The raw data obtained from the data collection process included interviews, audio recordings, and observations for use in the data analysis process. I wrote down my observations from the interviews along with the audio recordings will become transcripts. The data analysis process for this study included coding, sorting, querying, and analysis of the data gathered from the interviews, participation observations, and field notes.

I reviewed the information readily available through the company website and company reports. I obtained methodological triangulation through the comparison of company documents with findings from the interviews and observations (Abdalla, Oliveira, Azevedo, & Gonzalez, 2018; Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014; Eyal & Rom, 2015). The data analysis for this single case study was methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation consisted of semistructured interviews, observations, and document collection (Cope, 2014; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2014). Triangulation is a strategy I used for credibility and internal validity, which involved the use of multiple sources of data such as observations, interviews, and private or public documents (Carter et al.; Merriam & Tisdell; Patton, 2015; Yin).

I used NVivo12 software to assist with the coding and analysis of the interviews (Houghton, Murphy, Shaw, & Casey, 2015; Nelson, 2016; Rodik & Primorac, 2015). The installation of NVivo software was on a password-protected laptop for use. NVivo software is a means to organize, store, code, and manage collected data which can improve the research dependability. I used NVivo software, for the data analysis process.

The NVivo software was a method to develop themes from the interview data and for data management. NVivo software allowed the researcher group raw data into clusters and themes based on the participant's experiences. The data inputted into the NVivo software served as a guide for the analysis process to identify focal points, shared perspectives, and distinct contributions (Waller, Hockin, & Smith, 2017). I typed up the information from the recordings by listening closely to the audio from the interviews.

Next, I uploaded the transcripts into the NVivo software for coding and analysis to identify any recurrent themes based on the data collected. The NVivo software was helpful to manage, code, and report on the semistructured interview data responses when applicable. The NVivo software also allowed the researcher the ability to conduct an indepth analysis of data through the search, query, and visualization tools which can show connections in support of my findings.

Coding is the sorting of data according to themes and topics through the assignment of simple words or short phrases relevant to a larger set of data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Stake, 2010; Yin, 2015). The coding process I used included the creation of a transcript of the interviews, gathering the transcribed data, review of the interview transcriptions to look for themes by identification of repeated words and phrases, formation and coding clusters of information into themes, elicit meaning from the categories of common and unique information, and to begin the member checking process (Merriam et al., 2015; Stake, 2010; Yin, 2015). Random participant codes represented each study participant as a method to preserve their identity. I incorporated the data collected from the documentation and interviews to ensure the contribution of all

pertinent data throughout the data analysis process. I analyzed and summarized the study results through coded transcripts, inclusive notes, and company documentation. I reviewed and labeled all company documentation received before I begun the data analysis. I used the face-to-face semistructured interviews, website documentation, my participant observations, and audio recordings for the data coding of patterns and themes based on the perspective of the participant. As the researcher, I organized the data into distinct categories. I placed all information including interview content, content from the organization website, brochures, and the document collection used for coding of the identification of themes. The identification of the information from the data sources was used to find commonalities categorized by codes for analysis, documentation, and triangulation. The assigning of codes occurred when I sorted the data into sections for the construction of categories and themes (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Stake, 2010; Yin, 2015). Lastly, I focused on the identification of key themes related to the literature.

The formatting of the interview questions provided me with information on the four focus topic areas of the literature review: (a) donor development skills, (b) fundraising strategies, (c) transformational leadership, and (d) not-for-profit sustainability. Coding reflected the themes of the study's central research question: What specific fundraising strategies and donor development skills do not-for-profit leaders need for their organization to be sustainable. I placed the results of the themes into a table and confirmed the alignment of these themes based on the responses received from the participants in the interviews, field notes, and website documentation.

The concepts measured by the research instrument included the nine semistructured interview questions which determined what donor development skills and fundraising strategies not-for-profit leaders use to create a sustainable nonprofit.

## Reliability and Validity

I explored the role of reliability and validity in achieving a qualitative single case research study. The purpose of reliability in a study is the ability for a measure, procedure, or instrument to be replicated using the same conditions which will produce the same results (Chatha, Butt, & Tariq, 2015; Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

#### Reliability

Dependability concerns the reliability of the findings of the study (Elo et al., 2014; Nelson, 2016; Powell, Overton, & Simpson, 2014). Dependability refers to the rational, traceable, and prudently documented research process (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Peyrovi, Raiesdana, & Mehrdad, 2014; Sharifirad, Mortazavi, Rahimnia & Farahi, 2017). The ability to replicate research is a component of dependability (Mangioni & McKerchar, 2013; Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014; Peyrovi et al.). I ensured reliability and dependability through the documentation of my steps by using a single case study design, semistructured interviews, observations, transcript review, and member checking. Through the use of standardized interview questions and the interview protocol (Appendix), I worked to ensure that the wording of the questions was consistent with the foundation of my doctoral study which added to the reliability of the study. In qualitative studies, the steps to ensure replication includes member checking

and rich, in-depth description of the research process (Kemparaj & Chavan, 2013; O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, & Cook, 2014; Peyrovi et al.). I used member checking to ensure the dependability of this single qualitative case study. Each of the participants had the opportunity to review the analysis of the interview for accuracy. If I make any corrections to the analysis, the participants will have a second opportunity to review the changes made to the analysis.

# Validity

Commonly referred to as the extent to which conclusions reached in the research study give an accurate description or explanation of what occurred is validity (Gaus, 2017; Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Yin, 2015). Validity, internal and external validity, are factors of quality research (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Odegard & Bjorkly, 2012; Yin). I used methodological triangulation, a tape recorder, interview notes, and member checking for validity. Semistructured in-depth interview questions (Appendix) will aid the researcher to probe and obtain detailed responses from the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Powell & Eddleston, 2013; Yin, 2014).

# Credibility

Credibility, transferability, and confirmability are essential aspects of qualitative research (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yilmaz, 2013; Yin, 2015). Credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability ensure trustworthiness for the research to measure the validity and reliability of a study (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013; Vermeulen, Niemann, & Kotzé, 2016; Wan, Marco, & Cheng, 2016). The credibility of research requires researchers to demonstrate familiarity with the topic, obtaining sufficient data to

substantiate claims, strong logical links between observations and materials that allow individuals to decide the claims (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015).

## **Transferability**

Transferability refers to the extent to which the findings of a study can defensibly be generalized to other contexts (Elo et al., 2014; Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013; Saldaña, 2015). The foundation of transferability lies on the basis that the findings of the research can be applied to another setting or a different group of people (Elo et al., 2014). Another method used to enrich transferability is the rich and robust description of the data analysis process in this study (Houghton et al.; Peyrovi, Raiesdana, & Mehrdad, 2014; Zarshenas et al., 2014). Other researchers must be able to analyze the study to determine if the findings and interpretations are appropriate (Lincoln & Guba, 2013). The primary researcher must provide adequate information about the study for other researchers to determine if the findings apply to their context (Lincoln & Guba.).

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability refers to the notion that research findings and interpretations are connected to data in a manner easily understood by others (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). Confirmability necessitates the researcher to show that the conduction of the research occurred in good faith and that no personal values influenced either the research or its findings (Wan, Marco, & Cheng, 2016).

#### **Data Saturation**

The definition for data saturation is the point at which the data collection does not produce any new or relevant data (Merriam & Tisdell 2015; Oberoi, Jiwa, McManus, &

Hodder, 2015; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). In this study, I knew data saturation was reached when during the interview, it yields no new information but instead produces the same information (O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, & Cook, 2014; Merriam & Tisdell; Yin, 2014).

## **Summary and Transition**

In Section 2, I discussed numerous critical elements of this study, including the reiteration of the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data analysis, reliability and validity, and transition summary.

Section 3 will include an overview of the study, presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, summary, and study conclusion.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the fundraising strategies and donor development skills that not-for-profit leaders used to sustain their businesses. The not-for-profit sector is faced with sustainability changes and the leaders of these organizations need to use their fundraising strategies and donor development skills to build sustainable organizations. For organizational success, it is essential to link the needs of the organization with employee characteristics (Word & Park, 2015).

According to Participants (P) 1, 2, and 3, not-for-profit leaders are challenged with coming up with inventive fundraising strategies in order to remain sustainable. The interview data from the current study showed that there is a need for creating a sustainable organization although it is not easy and sometimes necessitates multiple strategies.

Leaders in not-for-profit organizations are faced with sustainability challenges and rely on their knowledge of fundraising strategies and donor development skills acquired throughout the years. According to findings from the study, leaders implemented different fundraising strategies and engaged an assortment of donor development skills to maximize sustainability.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this study was the following: What specific fundraising strategies and donor development skills do not-for-profit leaders need for their organizations to be sustainable? After collecting data from three sources

(semistructured interviews, observations, and company source documents), I transcribed the interviews and analyzed the data. To protect the confidentiality of the participants, I assigned each interviewee a pseudonym (P1, P2, P3, P4, P5) according to the order of the interviews. I confirmed that, after five interviews, data saturation had occurred; that is, no new information or themes emerged during interviews or observations (Boddy, 2016). I used NVivo12® software to analyze the data.

The results from these interviews provided interesting information about not-for-profit sustainability based on in-depth feedback from leaders with extensive experience with fundraising strategies and donor development skills. During the data analysis phase of the study, I identified three major themes: (a) relationships, (b) fundraisers, and (c) endowments. The first theme that emerged demonstrated the important role of relationships in building a sustainable organization. The second theme showcased the innovative ways leaders engaged in fundraising strategies to generate sufficient revenue for the organization. The third theme discovered was a strategy used by leaders who had experience working with an endowment program.

## Participants' Background

The work experience for the not-for-profit leaders in this study varied. All participants served in a leadership role for the organization with a minimum of 5 years of experience with fundraising strategies and donor development skills. One of the participants served in a consultant role for the organization. I followed the interview guidelines (see Appendix) when interviewing participants remaining in compliance with the Belmont Principles for ethical behavior for human subjects. After I completed the

transcription of the interviews, I e-mailed the interview summary to the participants, allotting them a week to provide any feedback such as comments, changes, or additional feedback. I used NVivo12® software to assist with the presentation of findings to participants for member checking to confirm the findings, Participants were given a week to provide feedback, but at the end of that time, only 2 participants had additional feedback.

Professional Background of the Participants

Participant responses	Years of experience	Percentage of totals	
5 years, but less than 10 More than 10 Years	1 4	10 90	
Totals	5	100	

# **Theme 1: Relationships**

Table 2

The first strategy that the leaders of the not-for-profit organization used to create a sustainable organization was to work on building relationships. As explained by Gazzola, Ratti, and Amelio (2017), it is essential for not-for-profit organizations to not only know their stakeholders but to understand them as well. P1 stated relationships that needed to receive nurturing included those of board members which serve as volunteers to the organization. Board members are also one of the stakeholders of the organization. As explained by P1, leaders of the organizations jointly worked with the board members to cultivate new relationships by encouraging the members to bring out new people to special events to introduce them to the organization. Leaders maximize existing relationships while forming new relationships. The additional exposure to new

stakeholders helps to broaden the number of relationships that the leaders of the organizations have which is instrumental when you are looking to build a sustainable organization. The quality of the not-for-profit organization's relationship with the various stakeholders correlates to the worth of the organization (Gazzola et al., 2017). P5 worked in tandem with the board member to establish the fundraising goals for the year.

Whereas, P2 stated that there is a belief that fund development starts from the board members first and spreads out. P2 continued that total engagement occurs when there is agreement with the fundraising goals.

Relationships have proved to be a critical component of the leaders fundraising strategy throughout the years. This approach was supported by Appelbaum, Calcagno, Magarelli, and Saliba, (2016) who indicated the building of relationships is critical for sustainability within an organization. P1 elaborated that the board members are encouraged to invite other people with them to events to introduce new individuals to the organization. Relationships are taken very seriously and managed intentionally according to feedback from P3. As the research instrument, I had the opportunity to observe the excitement of the volunteers in action as they prepared for a gala fundraiser. They excitedly prepared for the evening's festivities as they worked with the various staff members. Managing relationships with board members is a central component of the fundraising plan used by engaged leaders in the organization to achieve sustainability.

The second and final part of the relationships strategy was the efficient management of the organization's communications as a part of its sustainability plan.

According to Gazzola, Ratti, and Amelio (2017), the capacity of an organization to

communicate effectively, especially with its central stakeholders, may be vital to its longstanding success, sustainability, and growth. Likewise, P1 supported effective communication through the implementation of having a good communication plan in place to provide updates and share relevant information about the organization with stakeholders. Communication was beneficial in building and maintaining relationships. Also, P4 stated as a part of her communication strategy she will send handwritten notes or text messages as a component of her plan to regularly communicate with stakeholders. Appelbaum, Calcagno, Magarelli, and Saliba, (2016), posited that communication and action are essential components to building internal relationships which is necessary for sustainability. P1 states that a critical function in the organization is getting accurate communication out which supports promotions and sales so people can attend events but also so people can know what is going on within the organization. P1 further elaborated that when you are working to create a sustainable organization, it was important to not only raise funds but to have a robust communication plan. Leaders integrated communication into its sustainability plan for the organization. Table 3 identifies the different revenue sources for the not-for-profit organization. The table reflects what component of the revenue source makes up of the percentage of the total budget.

Table 3

Sources of Revenue		
Revenue source	Percentage of	
	total budget	
Ticket sales / promotions	15	
Contributions:		
Grants, individual, corporate	85	

Total 100

#### Theme 2: Fundraisers

Fundraising is a strategy that the leaders of the not-for-profit organization employed to ensure the organization remained sustainable. Currently, financial sustainability is one of the deep-seated problems facing the not-for-profit sector (Gajdová & Majdúchová, 2018). Gajdová et al. explained that not-for-profit organizations could not rely on support from public sources only but instead need to seek a diversified source of funds to maintain financial stability and sustainability. P1 explained the leaders took a strategic approach in the identification and application for grants as a method to generate revenue which has been successful. P4 explained that the leaders execute an array of fundraising activities including special events, grants, and cultivation events. P2 stated that the leaders of the organization currently focus on four major fundraising events each year. However, P1 stated she is considering reducing the overall number of major and minor fundraising events, to better use staff resources and providing stronger financial impact. Organizations need to be mindful of the impact on staff resources that are needed and make adjustments to enable the achievement of fundraising goals. Currently, the organization's revenue comes from an assortment of fundraising strategies which has proved to be successful in achieving sustainability (See Table 3 on top of page 82).

Volunteers played a significant role in the fundraising plan as outlined by leaders throughout the organization which has been a successful strategy. In this section, volunteers' reference parents of program participants. P5 stressed the importance of having a personal connection with the volunteers who are working with the organization

on fundraising efforts. Additionally, P1 disclosed that a large part of the fundraising strategy of the leaders of the organization came from volunteer engagement. Pati and Lee (2016) supported this approach, explaining that fundraising primarily comes from supporters and friends of the organization through donations. P3 worked to bring in volunteers to create a fun experience while they are volunteering at major events. This approach proved to be successful as the donors gained a fun experience while sharing their expertise and time at fundraising events. Scholars have indicated that the involvement of the organization's senior leadership, governing body, and board members participation in the planning and fundraising activities are critical for the success of fundraising (Rohayati, Najdi, & Williamson, 2016). P2 emphasized the importance of establishing clear fundraising goals and involving volunteers in sharing the goals with the community. When everyone has the same vision, it is easier to get the fundraising goal accomplished. P1 stressed that fundraising is a team sport involving the staff and volunteers. Influence from the level of success obtained from fundraising results in the capacity of the organization to maintain and cultivate social relationships (Rohayati et al.). The not-for-profit organization continuously refined ways to engage its volunteers as part of its fundraising strategy of leveraging relationships to create a sustainable organization.

A third component of the fundraising strategy used by leaders of the organization was raising revenue through sales. Sales and user fees are considered integral steps towards an organization gaining financial sustainability because it is an ongoing source of income (Das, 2015). P1 explained that the leadership places a large amount of effort on

selling tickets to events which creates a source of revenue that is complementary to their other funding sources. P5 discussed the impact of the rebranding of one of their programs which led to increased ticket sales for the organization. When organizations find ways to increase revenue, improve operating margins, or free up cash flow, it creates financial sustainability (Das, 2015). The leadership of the not-for-profit organization developed creative fundraising strategy of raising revenue through sales.

#### **Theme 3: Endowments**

The third and final strategy that the leaders of the not-for-profit organization used to create a sustainable organization is to work on establishing endowments for the organization. Organizations typically create endowments for financial sustainability (Păceșilă, 2018). Throughout the course of the research, P2 and P3 discussed the benefits and some of the nuances associated with having an endowment. P2 explained that with endowments you are involved in a continuous cycle of raising funds. P2 continued stating that the endowments need management and it can become a central focus of your sustainability efforts. Richardson (2016) explained that an endowment is a permanent financial trust created to earn revenue to generate income for some type of charitable purpose. The creation and development of endowment is a long-term endeavor (Păceșilă). P3 stated that a large part of her role is managing relationships with donors and endowments. P3 is pleased when she receives a notice from a donor that the organization is now a part of their estate plan. It is a reflection of the efforts working on endowment efforts. Endowments are a tool that not-for-profit organizations can use to build a viable organization.

As leaders of not-for-profit organizations face numerous challenges and opportunities, it can result in interest to learn tools that are used for organizational sustainability (Sebastian-Ion, Eduard-Gabriel, Orzan, Cristian, & Marin, 2017). While the establishment of endowments is an asset for a not-for-profit organization, the organization will need to allocate sufficient resources such as staff who have the necessary experience working with endowments. Leaders will need to establish the goals for the endowment. P2 evaluated which programs would most benefit from the endowment or an increase in the endowment amount based on her 30 years of experience working with not-for-profit organizations. Leaders of the organizations need to be cognizant that endowments will require individuals with specific skill sets while working to minimize costs to the organization (Păceșilă, 2018). P3 has over 30 years of experience in planned giving thus having all the skills needed to run the endowment program for the organization. Previously, P3 worked in the trust department at a financial institution. Additionally, P2 works with raising funds for endowment using her vast experience in fund development strategies, endowment revenue, and helping organizations to define what sustainability means for them. P4 spends time always looking for hints for causes donors might be willing to contribute funds to the organization for a new or existing cause. As the leaders of organizations explore the benefits of creating an endowment, they will need to ensure they have the necessary staffing in place to manage the endowment and examine the most cost-efficient manner to complete the tasks.

Lastly, the establishment of an endowment can create a financial foundation for a not-for-profit organization to be sustainable into the future. P5 warns that fundraising

options is not one size fits all but varies based on the needs of the organization.

Therefore, organizational leaders should determine if it is a feasible option for their organization because while it provides ongoing financial support to the organization, it requires ongoing human resources to be successful. Păceșilă (2018), stated that the endowment would provide financial stability to the organization to create an ongoing legacy of support. The endowment will hold the donated funds in perpetuity with the investment income to fulfill the specified purpose (Richardson, 2016). P4 stated that the endowment is a component of the long-range financial planning strategies. To maintain a successful endowment program leaders need a sufficient level of funding. Additionally, P3 stated that she works on creating a donor cultivation plan in conjunction with the endowment planning. Not-for-profit leaders can engage in the creation of endowments as a tool for their long-term sustainability plan.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

Sustainability has become an integral benchmark of the overall vitality of an organization (Shafiq, Klassen, & Awaysheh, 2017). The findings of this study revealed several successful strategies that leaders in not-for-profit organizations applied to maintain a sustainable organization. Using information gained from the research question, the analysis of interview answers with the assistance of NVivo12® software, and reading company documentation, and literature about the industry, I identified three main themes (a) relationships, (b) fundraising, and (c) endowments. These findings may be relevant to leaders of not-for-profit organizations wanting to ensure the organization is sustainable for years to come. The findings may be helpful for not-for-profit

organizations looking for criteria to include in job descriptions for new leaders.

Organizations who are looking to fundraise or start endowment funds need staff with a certain level of expertise. Not-for-profit organizations can benefit from this study as they often spend a significant amount of time fundraising and identifying potential funding sources. The results of this study might provide leaders of not-for-profit organizations additional tools to allow them to be efficient in their fundraising strategies and identify training opportunities for leadership effectiveness. Data from this research could add to prior and existing research regarding strategies to have sustainable organizations.

Upon entering the organization, I noticed the excitement and flurry of activity as various employees and volunteers prepared the last-minute touches for one of the biggest fundraisers it holds each year. I could see the impact of the established relationships that had been built by the staff members with the donors. The organization relies on the support from the board members to help with the planning and implementation of fundraising goals such as helping to plan and execute various fundraising events held throughout the year. P5 stressed the importance of maintaining relationships with donors and having a personal connection which is integral to the fundraising process. Milde and Yawson (2017) explained that not-for-profit organizations have individuals or entities committed to the organization it can lead to receiving donations, donors make contributions to the not-for-profit organization with the goal of helping the organization remain viable (Milde & Yawson).

As I continued my interviews on different days with various leaders, I observed how they managed relationships and the level of importance they placed on relationships

with donors and volunteers. For instance, P2 expounded upon the importance of not only cultivating long-term relationships but nurturing the relationships as well. Volunteers should not be treated as transactional. Organizations can benefit from understanding the true value of volunteers. Volunteers are not only giving their time and expertise but are committed to the organization according to P2. Thus, leading me to the first theme that emerged from this study which consisted of developing and strengthening relationships with donors to achieve sustainability. According to McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, (2015), it is important for the not-for-profit organization to build individual relationships with the donors as it has a direct correlation to the donations received. During my research, I learned the importance of maintaining contact with donors, learning about their interests, and keeping all leaders informed of the status of any updates about donors. Having a relationship with a donor is fundamental when soliciting funds from donors. There was a dual focus with updates for the donors when you found out their interest as it was helpful when you were looking for funding for a project. Also, when the leader took the time to stay in regular communication with the donor, it demonstrated they cared about the donor as a person and not just because they contributed to the organization. One of the components of their fundraising software was a feature that allowed the leaders to post updates about donors so that everyone could remain updated. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations in Michigan and throughout the country could benefit from the implementation of these strategies. The responses received from the participants validated the researchers' theories on donor engagement to confirm the significance of creating an environment where donor engagement is encouraged. The

fundraising strategies used have allowed this organization to grow the programs and services offered and for the organization to continually flourish for over a decade.

A common on-going issue that is faced by not-for-profit organizations is either the loss of or lack of sufficient funding which the organizations need to ensure they have the needed level of funding for operations (Milde & Yawson, 2017). Due to the insufficient level of funding, not-for-profits face the challenge of having to fundraise to make sure they can fulfill their budgetary line items. While fundraising is not new to organizations, the ability to be able to fundraise successfully was imperative for organizations to learn. Therefore, the second theme exposed the urgent need for leaders to engage in efficient fundraising strategies to ensure sustainability. P1 who was new to the organization was reviewing the current fundraisers the organizations were doing and was examining ways they could be done more efficiently to minimize resources and maximize returns on investments. According to Das (2015), financial sustainability occurs when the organization has a sufficient flow of funds to operate. The leaders in the study supported the need to establish different revenue sources to ensure there were sufficient income streams for operations for longevity. When organizations can diversify their funding sources, it leads to an increase in the organization's independence guaranteeing viability for the future (Păceșilă, 2018). If the organization depends on one primary funding source and loses that funding source, it could cause the agency to cease operations. Leaders in the not-for-profit organizations continuously sought opportunities to increase revenue to maintain a sustainable organization.

Endowment funds provide financial support to the organization while creating an ongoing legacy of support and protecting the organization (Păceșilă, 2018). Endowment funds is a tool that could be used by not-for-profit organizations, for long-term sustainability while providing funds continuously. It's important to note that this strategy may not be applicable for every organization and it requires on-going support. Smaller not-for-profit organizations may not benefit from this strategy due to the high level of labor intensity and staff experience that is needed. Hence, the discovery of the third theme in the research was the value of having endowments to create a sustainable organization. Organizations could benefit from an endowment as it provides a dependable and continual source of income for the organization (Păceșilă). The leaders in not-forprofit organizations in the study showed the benefits of having endowments established for their programs as it provided a steady source of income to help support the organization's operations. However, the research highlighted the necessity of having either staff or board members with the necessary experience and knowledge of operating endowments for program success. If the organization does not have the staff or board members with the capacity to create and maintain the endowment funds, the organization could hire an outside entity to handle that responsibility. Endowments are a great resource that not-for-profit organizations can use as a tool to help build sustainability, but it requires staff to have sufficient knowledge to operate the program and to maximize its effectiveness. Also, when an organization has an endowment, the fundraising cycle is perpetual.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The results of this study have the potential to contribute to social change in leaders of not-for-profit organizations as well as the clients and communities that the not-for-profit organization services through the providing of needed services. Scholars and academic leaders alike have noted the importance of sustainability on the longevity of both organizations and the communities in which they serve (Galpin, Whittington, & Bell, 2015.) The participants of this study consisted of five leaders in a not-for-profit organization in Michigan who used successful fundraising strategies and donor development skills that led to organizational sustainability. The intention of this study was to research the successful strategies leaders used when fundraising and employing donor development skills to increase sustainability opportunities for organizations which would allow the organizations to continue to meet the needs of the community.

To create a sustainable organization, leaders of not-for-profit organizations need to be proficient in fundraising and possessing the necessary donor development skills. As indicated by Erwin, Landry, and Gibson, (2015), fundraising is built upon the establishment of relationships with donors to enable the engagement of individuals with fundraising which are critical factors to the success of fundraising. Organizations need to identify desired attributes and skills of leaders who have the responsibility of forming relationships with donors as part of their fundraising efforts. As fundraising becomes increasingly critical for the sustainability of not-for-profit organizations, it will become paramount that individuals have the necessary training and develop the skills needed for fundraising success (Ebede & Edginton, 2018). The fundraising strategies and donor

development skills successfully employed by the leaders in this study has the potential to be incorporated into any not-for-profit organization. An organization will need to invest in getting training for leaders who wish to implement an endowment program if they do not have previous experience or volunteers who can guide with the endowment program.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The following recommendations from the findings of the current study can facilitate decisions of leaders of not-for-profit organizations, social service agencies, grassroots organizations healthcare organizations, arts organizations, and communitybased organizations, Leaders of not-for-profit organizations focus on sustainability; however, they could benefit from learning some additional fundraising strategies and donor development skills. Cavaleri and Shabana (2018) posited that there is a correlation between sustainability performance and financial performance. Leaders of not-for-profit organizations may need to invest in getting training for establishing an endowment if they do not have leaders or board members who have the training and experience in this area. As not-for-profit leaders are designing their fundraising strategies, they should consider if the strategies and approaches would be feasible for their organization. Some leaders may not feel these strategies are valuable for their organization; however, I recommend that leaders of not-for-profit organizations develop fundraising plans and work to further their donor development skills to create viable organizations. Charitable organizations such as not-for-profit organizations cannot afford to lose any donors due to lack of efficacy in fundraising (Ni, Chen, Ding, & Wu, 2017). As leaders of not-for-profit organizations are

exploring opportunities to create sustainability for the organization, they might find benefit from learning about these fundraising strategies and donor development skills.

The results of this study are significant to the ability of a not-for-profit leader to fundraise and engage in donor development as they examine strategies to create a sustainable organization. The dissemination of these findings for not-for-profit leaders will be beneficial as they explore options on how to equip their organization with the tools to become sustainable. As explained by Fenge, Jones, and Gibson (2018), research that makes an impact never fully concludes and dissemination go further than a couple of academic journal articles. All participants will receive a final copy of the study via email after the approval process for the study. I will also notify interested stakeholders such as social service agencies or community organizations to discuss the study and the findings of the study at their premises. Dissemination of the study would occur after publishing in the ProQuest platform. Lastly, I plan to write a journal article for my peers to review and make presentations to local not-for-profit organizations and at conferences for not-for-profit organizations.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

The research study focused on sustainability from a financial standpoint. There are multiple ways that you can define sustainability within an organization. P5 stressed that sustainability is not always related to finances. During this study, the participant response primarily focused on financial attributes to sustainability. I recommend that the novice or seasoned researcher explore further successful strategies that not-for-profit leaders engage in for sustainability. Lastly, I would recommend future research on the

benefits of a not-for-profit receiving mileage as a fundraising strategy. P2 and P4 disclosed the significance of the mileage that the organization will receive for the next 10 years that is a continuous source of revenue. Currently, there is no research available that addresses the benefits or challenges of using mileage for a fundraising strategy. There are still additional areas for further research in the areas of sustainability for not-for-profit organizations.

The primary limitations of this study resulted from the (a) small sample size, (b) restricted access to participants, and (c) limited geographical scope. Although not-for-profit organizations face sustainability challenges, it can vary depending upon the local conditions. Also, there are various types of not-for-profit organizations with varying structures which may benefit from the use of having leaders with different fundraising strategies or donor development skills.

#### Reflections

When I began on this doctoral study journey, I was not sure what to expect. There were countless times that I felt overwhelmed and wondered when I would able to complete this journey. I have spent a large part of my professional and personal life writing, but nothing could have prepared me for the rigorous requirements of the DBA doctoral study program. The earning of my doctoral degree has been an extremely challenging but rewarding process. I can recall feeling periods of frustration as I grappled how to move forward in the program. I completed the program a humbled individual from the experience and opportunity.

One of the lessons that I learned early on in the program is that you need a strong support system and its okay to reach out to other people for guidance and support. I have been extremely blessed to have encountered some extremely spectacular individuals along this journey who have been excellent sounding boards. I decided at the conclusion of my master's program to immediately begin the doctoral program to avoid losing any momentum. I count this as one of my greatest accomplishments.

The purpose of this study was to explore what strategies and donor development skills that leaders of not-for-profit organizations could use to create a sustainable organization. I selected this topic based on the sustainability challenges faced by not-for-profit organizations to learn knowledge from experienced leaders. Not-for-profit organizations who service low-to-moderate income communities experience challenges with fundraising (Gazzola, Ratti, & Amelio, 2017). I sought to understand what leaders could do to help organizations be viable. I gained a great deal of insight from the participants during the research study.

I have worked in the not-for-profit sector since 2002, but I did not have any personal connections with the organization that participated in the study. I have seen the challenges faced by not-for-profit organizations of various sizes who lack leadership that is well versed in fundraising and do not have sufficient donor development skills. I was not sure how much I would learn through the level of knowledge shared during the interviews. My preconceived notions thought the information shared would relate to primarily grants as the fundraising strategy as not-for-profit organizations frequently depend largely on grants to meet their budgetary needs.

After completing the study, I learned some new fundraising strategies and donor development skills that could be useful to leaders of not-for-profit organizations. However, I would note that leaders without experience in endowments would need training or mentoring from an individual with extensive experience creating endowment campaigns. I gained valuable knowledge that I can share with other not-for-profit leaders who are working in organizations facing sustainability challenges.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of the qualitative single case study was to explore successful fundraising strategies and donor development skills leaders of not-for-profit organizations used to bring sustainability to their organization. According to Beaton and Hwang (2017), the American not-for-profit sector is massive, and it continues to grow which creates challenges with limited resources for not-for-profits to compete. Not-for-profit leaders' ability to identify tools that can be used for viability and meets the needs of their organization is essential. The use of semistructured interviews was held to obtain a better understanding of fundraising strategies and donor development skills that not-for-profit leaders used for organizational sustainability.

I used methodological triangulation for this study which consisted of semistructured interviews, observations, and document collection. The methodological triangulation enabled me to analyze the data collected through interviews and documents analysis. Three themes emerged from this study: (a) value and impact of relationships on fundraising success, (b) fundraising strategies leaders used, and (c) the establishment of endowment funds as a tool used by leaders for organizational sustainability. The findings

from this study revealed not-for-profit leaders who can leverage relationships, employ various fundraising strategies, and use endowment funds could enable the organization to have longevity. Also, the information revealed in this study defined proven fundraising strategies and donor development skills employed by seasoned not-for-profit leaders, to engage stakeholders, increase revenue opportunities, and establish long-term funding sources.

Fundraising performance is an essential measurement of not-for-profit organization performance (Erwin, Landry, & Gibson, 2015). As the number of nonprofits continue to grow (Beaton & Hwang, 2017) which has led to an increased demand for limited resources (McDonald, Weerawardena, Madhavaram, & Sullivan Mort, 2015), Leaders of not-for-profit organizations could benefit from learning successful fundraising strategies and donor development skills due to their responsibility with ensuring the organization has the necessary resources in place for longevity. Successful fundraising depends on the efficacy of available human resources within the organization (Rohayati, Najdi, & Williamson, 2016). The results of my research demonstrated how leaders strategically leveraged relationships, engaged in innovative fundraising strategies and maximized endowment funds to generate revenue which places the organization in a position to be sustainable.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98. doi:10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Adams, C. A., Muir, S., & Hoque, Z. (2014). Measurement of sustainability performance in the public sector. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, *5*(1), 46-67. doi:10.1108/sampj-04-2012-0018
- Akaeze, C. O. (2016). Exploring strategies required for small business sustainability in competitive environments (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3746398)
- Ali, T. M., & Gull, S. (2016). Government funding to the NGOs: A blessing or a curse? *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 5(6), 51-61. doi:10.20525/ijrbs.v5i6.607
- Al-tabbaa, O., Leach, D., & March, J. (2014). Collaboration between nonprofit and business sectors: A framework to guide strategy development for nonprofit organizations. *Voluntas*, 25(3), 657-678. doi:10.1007/s11266-013-9357-6
- Allen, G. P., Moore, W. M., Moser, L. R., Neill, K. K., Sambamoorthi, U., & Bell, H. (2016). The role of servant leadership and transformational leadership in academic pharmacy. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 80(7), 1-7. doi:10.5688/ajpe807113
- Alsalami, E., Behery, M., & Abdullah, S. (2014). Transformational leadership and its

- effects on organizational learning and innovation: Evidence from Dubai. *Journal* of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship, 19(4), 61-81. doi:10.9774/gleaf.3709.2014.oc.00006
- Appelbaum, S. H., Calcagno, R., Magarelli, S. M., & Saliba, M. (2016). A relationship between corporate sustainability and organizational change (part three). *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 48(3), 133-141. doi:10.1108/ICT-07-2014-0047
- Aschari-Lincoln, J. J., & Jäger, U. P. (2016). Analysis of determinants of revenue sources for international NGOs. *Not-for-profit & Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 45(3), 612-629. doi:10.1177/0899764015595721
- Asencio, H. (2016). Leadership, trust, and job satisfaction in the public sector: A study of US federal employees. *International Review of Public Administration*, 21(3), 250-267. doi:10.1080/12294659.2016.1237342
- Bamu, B. N., Schauwer, E. D., & Hove, G. V. (2016). I can't say I wasn't anticipating it, but i didn't see it coming in this magnitude: A qualitative fieldwork experience in the northwest region of Cameroon. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(3), 571-583. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Barber, P., & Farwell, M. M. (2016). Charitable solicitations regulation and the principles of regulatory disclosure. *Nonprofit Policy Forum*, 7(3), 311-338. doi:10.1515/npf-2015-0017
- Bass, B. M. & Avolio, B. J. (1994). *Improving organizational effectiveness*through transformational leadership. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). Transformational leadership (2nd ed.). Mahwah,

- N.J. L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Bass, B. M., Waldman, D. A., Avolio, B. J., & Bebb, M. (1987). Transformational leadership and the falling dominoes effect. *Group & Organization Studies*, 12(1), 73-87. doi:10.1177/105960118701200106
- Battilana, J., Sengul, M., Pache, A. C., & Model, J. (2014). Harnessing productive tensions in hybrid organizations: The case of work integration social enterprises.

  \*Academy of Management Journal, 58(6), 1658–1685. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0903
- Beaton, E., & Hwang, H. (2017). Increasing the size of the pie: The impact of crowding on nonprofit sector resources. *Nonprofit Policy Forum*, 8(3), 211-235. doi:10.1515/npf-2016-0012
- Bernstein, R., Buse, K., & Slatten, L. A. (2015). Nonprofit board performance: Board members' understanding their roles and responsibilities. *American Journal of Management*, 15(1), 24-35. http://www.na-businesspress.com/ajmopen.html
- Besel, K., Hoang, N., Cloud, R., Golder, S., Bledsoe, L., & McKiernan, P. (2004). The struggle to survive: The power of partnerships in the quest for nonprofit sustainability. *Advances in Social Work*, *5*(2), 139-149. doi:10.1080/1533256X2011.593445
- Bhanot, D., & Bapat, V. (2015). Sustainability index of micro finance institutions (MFIs) and contributory factors. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 42(4), 387-403. doi:10.1108/ijse-01-2014-0001
- Bhati, A., & Eikenberry, A. M. (2016). Faces of the needy: The portrayal of destitute children in the fundraising campaigns of NGOs in India. *International Journal of*

- *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, *21*(1), 31-42. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1542 doi:10.3402/qhw.v8i0.19823
- Bilodeau, L., Podger, J., & Abd-El-Aziz, A. (2014). Advancing campus and community sustainability: Strategic alliances in action. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, *15*(2), 157-168. doi:10.1108/ijshe-06-2012-0051
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*, 19(4), 426-432. doi:10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053
- Brahim, A. B., Riđić, O., & Jukić, T. (2015). The effect of transactional leadership on employees performance. Case study of 5 Algerian banking institutions. *Economic Review: Journal of Economics & Business*, 13(2), 7-20. https://econpapers.repec.org/article/tuzjournl/
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research.

  \*American Journal of Public Health, 105, 900-908.\*

  doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Brown, W. (2017). Classification of program activities: How nonprofits create social value. *Administrative Sciences*, 7(2), 1-7. doi:10.3390/admsci7020012
- Brunia, S., De Been, I., & van der Voordt, T. (2016). Accommodating new ways of working: Lessons from best practices and worst cases. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, 18(1), 30-47. doi:10.1108/jcre-10-2015-0028
- Bryant, M. E. (2012). *Physical environments conducive to creativity and collaboration* within the work environment. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Ohio State

- University, Columbus.
- Bucci, D. A., & Waters, R. D. (2014). The financial consequences of silence: The lack of dialogue on community college fundraising websites. *Community College Journal of Research & Practice*, 38(10), 873-888. doi:10.1080/10668926.2012.720864
- Budd, J. M., & Velasquez, D. L. (2014). Phenomenology and organizational communication. *New Library World*, 115(7/8), 394-404. doi:10.1108/nlw-03-2014-0028nhyu
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper.
- Byrd, J., & Cote, J. (2016). Accounting and economic biases in donations to NGO's: Is scaling the new overhead myth in charity giving?. *International Review of Accounting, Banking & Finance*, 8(2-4), 55-63. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2934719
- Čačija, L. N. (2016). The nonprofit marketing process and fundraising performance of humanitarian organizations: Empirical analysis. *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 21(2), 1-25. Retrieved from https://hrcak.srce.hr/
- Caillier, J. G., & Sa, Y. (2017). Do transformational-oriented leadership and transactional-oriented leadership have an impact on whistle-blowing attitudes? A longitudinal examination conducted in US federal agencies. *Public Management Review*, 19(4), 406-422. doi:10.1080/14719037.2016.1177109
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.onf.545-547

- Cavaleri, S., & Shabana, K. (2018). Rethinking sustainability strategies. *Journal of Strategy and Management*, 11(1), 2-17. doi:10.1108/jsma-08-2016-0050
- C.H. Chan, S., & Mak, W. M. (2014). Transformational leadership, pride in being a follower of the leader and organizational commitment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35(8), 674-690. doi:10.1108/lodj-12-09-0076
- Charles, C., & Kim, M. (2016). Do donors care about results? An analysis of nonprofit arts and cultural organizations. *Public Performance & Management*Review, 39(4), 864-884. doi:10.1080/15309576.2015.1137775
- Chatha, K. A., Butt, I., & Tariq, A. (2015). Research methodologies and publication trends in manufacturing strategy. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 35(4), 487-546. doi:10.1108/ijopm-07-2012-0285
- Chen, G. (2016). Does meeting BBB accountability standards affect charitable giving? A study of New York metropolitan area charities, replicated by a US national sample. *International Review on Public and Non-Profit Marketing, 13*(1), 49-68. doi:10.1007/s12208-015-0142-7
- Chen, M., Mao, S., & Liu, Y. (2014). Big data: A survey. *Mobile Network Application*, 19(2), 171-209. doi:10.1007/s11036-013-0489-0
- Cheney, A. L., Merchant, K. E., & Killins, Jr., R. (2013). Impact investing: A 21st century tool to attract and retain donors. *Foundation Review*, *4*(4), 45-56. doi:10.4087/FOUNDATIONREVIEW-D-12-00009.1
- Chikoto-Schultz, G., & Neely, D. G. (2016). Exploring the nexus of nonprofit stability and financial growth. *Voluntas*, 27(6), 2561-2575. doi:10.1007/s11266-016-9786-

- Chin, K., Schuster, D., Tanzil, D., Beloff, B., & Cobb, C. (2015). Sustainability trends in the chemical industry. *Chemical Engineering Progress, 111*(1), 36-40. https://www.aiche.org/resources/publications
- Cicmil, S., & O'Laocha, E. (2016). The logic of projects and the ideal of community development. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, *9*(3), 546-561. doi:10.1108/ijmpb-09-2015-0092
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Craig, C. A., & Allen, M. W. (2013). Sustainability information sources: Employee knowledge, perceptions, and learning. *Journal of Communication Management*, 17(4), 292-307. doi:10.1108/JCOM-05-2012-0035
- Cullom, C., & Cullom, R. S. (2011). Knowledge Management for Nonprofits: A Strategy for Organizational Sustainability. *Communications of The IIMA*, 11(2), 13-23. http://www.iima.org
- Curtis, L., Edwards, C., Fraser, K. L., Gudelsky, S., Holmquist, J., Thornton, K., & Sweetser, K. D. (2010). Adoption of social media for public relations by nonprofit organizations. *Public Relations Review*, *36*(1), 90–92. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2009.10.003
- Custer, N. (2016). In like Flint: How the innovation incubator at UM-Flint fosters social entrepreneurship in a city remaking itself. *Journal of Community Engagement & Higher Education*, 8(1), 29-46.

- https://discovery.indstate.edu/jcehe/index.php/joce/index
- Das, B. K. (2015). Sustainability of social enterprise for financial self-reliance. *ASBM Journal of Management*, 8(2), 34-45. https://www.asbm.ac.in/asbmpublication
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21(3), 521-528. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Dobrai, K., & Farkas, F. (2016). Not-for-profit organizations from the perspective of organizational development and their influence on professionalization. *Our Economy (Nase Gospodarstvo)*, 62(2), 25-32. doi:10.1515/ngoe-2016-0009
- Dos Santos Bortolocci Espejo, M. M., Portulhak, H., & Pacheco, V. (2017). Performance management in university hospitals: An empirical analysis in a Brazilian institution. *Tourism & Management Studies, 13*(1), 52-59. doi:10.18089/tms.2017.13107
- Dresch, A., Lacerda, D. P., & Miguel, P. A. C. (2015). A distinctive analysis of case study, action research and design science research. *Revista Brasileira De Gestão De Negócios*, 17(56), 1116-1133. doi:10.7819/rbgn.v17i56.2069
- Ebede, S., & Edginton, C. R. (2018). Students' perception of fundraising through personal solicitation. *The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, 8, 322-329. doi:10.18666/JNEL-2018-V8-I3-9136
- Effelsberg, D., & M. Solga. (2015). Transformational leaders' in-group versus out-group orientation: Testing the link between leaders' organizational identification, their willingness to engage in unethical pro-organizational behavior, and follower-

- perceived transformational leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics 126*, 581–590. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1972-z
- Eldridge, S. M., Lancaster, G. A., Campbell, M. J., Thabane, L., Hopewell, S., Coleman, C. L., & Bond, C. M. (2016). Defining feasibility and pilot studies in preparation for randomised controlled trials: Development of a conceptual framework. *PLoS One*, 11(3), e0150205. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150205
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Erwin, C. O., Landry, A. Y., & Gibson, M. A. (2015). Organizational characteristics associated with fundraising performance of nonprofit hospitals/practitioner application. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 60, 96-112. doi:10.1097/00115514-201503000-00005
- Eyal, O., & Rom, N. (2015). Epistemological trends in educational leadership studies in Israel: 2000-2012. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *53*, 574-596. doi:10.1108/jea-01-2014-0009
- Fazzi, G., & Zamaro, N. (2016). Exploring the interplay between leadership styles and PSM in two organisational settings. *International Journal of Manpower*, *37*, 859-877. doi.org/10.1108/ijm-01-2015-0008
- Fenge, L., Jones, K., & Gibson, C. (2018). Meaningful dissemination produces the "long tail" that engenders community impact. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18, 45-54. doi:10.1108/qrj-d-17-00037

- Fifka, M. S., Kühn, A., Loza Adaui, C. R., & Stiglbauer, M. (2016). Promoting development in weak institutional environments: The understanding and transmission of sustainability by NGOS in Latin America. *Voluntas*, *27*, 1091-1122. doi:10.1007/s11266-016-9713-4
- Follman, J., Cseh, M., & Brudney, J. L. (2016). Structures, challenges, and successes of volunteer programs co-managed by nonprofit and public organizations. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 26, 453-470. doi:10.1002/nml.21206
- Fontes-Filho, J. R., & Bronstein, M. M. (2016). Governance solutions in listed companies and not-for-profit organizations. *Annals of Public & Cooperative Economics*, 87, 391-410. doi:10.1111/apce.12136
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Gajdová, D., & Majdúchová, H. (2018). Financial sustainability criteria and their testing in the conditions of the Slovak non-profit sector. *Contemporary Economics*, 12, 33-56. doi:10.5709/ce.1897-9254.262
- Galpin, T., Whittington, J. L., & Bell, G. (2015). Is your sustainability strategy sustainable? Creating a culture of sustainability. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society, 15*(1), 1–17. doi:10.1108/cg-01-2013-0004
- Garcia, D., & Gluesing, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research methods in international organizational change research. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*,

- 26, 423-444. doi:10.1108/09534811311328416
- Gamble, E. N., & Beer, H. A. (2017). Spiritually informed not-for-profit performance measurement. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *141*, 451-468. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2682-5
- Garczynski, J. (2016). #Donate: The role of social media in academic library fundraising. *The Bottom Line*, 29, 60-66. doi:10.1108/bl-02-2016-0013
- Gaus, N. (2017). Selecting research approaches and research designs: A reflective essay. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *17*, 99-112. doi:10.1108/qrj-07-2016-0041
- Gaver, J. J., Harris, E. E., & Im, S. M. (2016). Determinants and consequences of nonprofit debt ratings. *Accounting Horizons*, 30, 363-378. doi:10.2308/acch-51456
- Gazzola, P., Ratti, M., & Amelio, S. (2017). CSR and sustainability report for nonprofit organizations. an Italian best practice. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, 5, 355-376. doi:10.25019/MDKE/5.3.03
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772-1789. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Ghasabeh, M. S., Soosay, C., & Reaiche, C. (2015). The emerging role of transformational leadership. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 49, 459-467. doi:10.1353/jda.2015.0090
- Gheradi, S. (2015). Why Kurt Wolff matters for a practice-based perspective of sensible knowledge in ethnography. *Journal of Organizational Ethnography*, 4, 117.

- doi:10.1108/joe-11-2013-0021
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

  Organizational Research Methods, 17, 118–137. doi:10.1177/1094428113518348
- Gilstrap, C., & Minchow-Proffitt, H. (2017). The ethical frameworks of social media policies among U.S. nonprofit organizations: Legal expectations, dialogic prescriptions, and a dialectical model. *Journal of Not-for-profit& Public Sector Marketing*, 29, 169–187. doi:10.1080/10495142.2017.1326337
- Gobo, G. (2015). The next challenge: From mixed to merged methods. *Qualitative*\*Research in Organizations and Management, 10, 329-331. doi:10.1108/qrom-07-2015-1309
- Gonzalez, V. (2018). Cultural property: The hero of dance's drama. *Columbia Journal of Law and Social Problems*, 51, 549-585. http://jlsp.law.columbia.edu/
- Grant, L. E., & Potoski, M. (2015). Collective reputations affect donations to nonprofits. *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management*, *34*, 835-852. doi:10.1002/pam
- Greaney, A.-M., Sheehy, A., Heffernan, C., Murphy, J., Mhaolrúnaigh, S. N., Heffernan, E., & Brown, G. (2012). Research ethics application: A guide for the novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, *21*, 38-43. doi:10.12968/bjon.2012.21.1.38
- Green, J., & Dalton, B. (2016). Out of the shadows: Using value pluralism to make explicit economic values in not-for-profit business strategies. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 139, 299-312. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2618-0
- Gregg, E. A., Pierce, D. A., Sweeney, K. M., & Lee, J. W. (2015). Purposeful pedaling:

- Analyzing MS 150 participant behavior. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, 6, 269-281. doi:10.1108/ijefm-04-2015-0020
- Grieb, S. D., Eder, M., Smith, K. C., Calhoun, K., & Tandon, D. (2015). Qualitative research and community-based participatory research: Considerations for effective dissemination in the peer-reviewed literature. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships*, *9*, 275-282. doi:10.1353/cpr.2015.0041
- Grizzle, C. (2015). Efficiency, stability and the decision to give to nonprofit arts and cultural organizations in the United States. *International Journal of Not-for-profit& Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 20, 226-237. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1521
- Gyanchandani, R. (2017). The Effect of Transformational Leadership Style on Team

  Performance in IT Sector. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 11, 29-44.

  http://www.iupindia.in/Soft\_Skills.asp
- Hadi, M. A., & José Closs, S. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641-646. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nursing Standard*, 29, 41-47. doi:10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858
- Hailey, J., & Salway, M. (2016). New routes to CSO sustainability: the strategic shift to social enterprise and social investment. *Development in Practice*, 26, 580-591. doi:10.1080/09614524.2016.1188886
- Halina, W. M., & Ewelina, Z. (2015). Financial and non-financial factors motivating individual donors to support public benefit organizations. *Comparative Economic*

- Research, 18, 131–152. doi:10.1515/cer-2015-0008
- Hansmann, H. B. (1980), The role of nonprofit enterprise, *Yale Law Journal*, 89, 835 901. doi:10.2307/796089
- Harris, E., Petrovits, C., & Yetman, M. H. (2015). The effect of nonprofit governance on donations: Evidence from the revised form 990. *The Accounting Review*, 90, 579–610. doi:10.2308/accr-50874
- Harris-Keith, C. S. (2016). What academic library leadership lacks: Leadership skills directors are least likely to develop, and which positions offer development opportunity. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship, 42*, 313–318. doi:10.1016/j.acalib.2016.06.005
- Helmig, B., Hinz, V., & Ingerfurth, S. (2015). Valuing organizational values: Assessing the uniqueness of nonprofit values. *Voluntas*, 26, 2554-2580. doi:10.1007/s11266-014-9530-6
- Henry, C., & Foss, L. (2015). Case sensitive? A review of the literature on the use of case method in entrepreneurship research. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research*, 21, 389-409. doi:10.1108/ijebr-03-2014-0054.
- Heyne, M., Gallagher, R., Coughlan, J., & Lewin, M. (2016). Quality & empowerment. *OD Practitioner*, 48(2), 36-42. http://www.odnetwork.org/page/Publications
- Hiller, A. J., & Vears, D. F. (2016). Reflexivity and the clinician-researcher: Managing participant misconceptions. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 16(1), 13-25. doi:10.1108/QRJ-11-2014-0065

- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2018). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 44, 501-529. doi:10.1177/0149206316665461
- Holland, A. (2017). Nonprofit leaders' strategies in capturing the attention of committed, large donors (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital

  Dissertations & Theses Global database. (UMI No. 10253906)
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17.

  doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher (2014), 22*(5), 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307
- Hu, Q., Kapucu, N., & O'Byrne, L. (2014). Strategic planning for community-based small nonprofit organizations: Implementation, benefits, and challenges. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 19, 83-101.
  doi:10.9774/gleaf.3709.2014.ja.00007
- Humphreys, J. H., & Einstein, W. O. (2003). Nothing new under the sun:

  Transformational leadership from a historical perspective. *Management Decision*,

  41(1), 85-95. doi:10.1108/00251740310452934
- Jacobs, M. (2017). One or many?. *OD Practitioner*, 49(1), 20-27. http://www.odnetwork.org/

- Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, F., Ghahiri, A., Habibi, M., & Zargham-Boroujeni, A. (2015).

  Exploration of infertile couples' support requirements: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Fertility & Sterility*, 9, 81-92. doi:10.22074/ijfs.2015.4212
- James, M. L. (2015). The benefits of sustainability and integrated reporting: An investigation of accounting majors' perceptions. *Journal of Legal, Ethical and Regulatory Issues, 18*(1), 1-20. http://www.alliedacademics.org/legal-ethical-and-regulatory-issues/
- Jaskyte, K. (2015). Board of directors and innovation in nonprofit organizations model:

  Preliminary evidence from nonprofit organizations in developing

  countries. *Voluntas*, 26, 1920-1943. doi:10.1007/s11266-014-9505-7
- Jones, A. (2014). Generational cohort differences in types of organizational commitment among nurses in Alabama (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global. (UMI 3645920)
- Jones, K. R., & Mucha, L. (2014). Sustainability assessment and reporting for nonprofit organizations: Accountability for the public good. *Voluntas*, *25*, 1465-1482. doi:10.1007/s11266-013-9399-9
- Jones, O. M., Okeke, C., Bullock, A., Wells, S. E., & Monrouxe, L. V. (2016). He's going to be a doctor in August: A narrative interview study of medical students' and their educators experiences of aligned and misaligned assistantships. *BMJ Open, 6*(6), e011817. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011817
- Jungbok, H. (2015). Marketing strategies for nonprofit organizations. Advances in

- Management, 8(10), 1-5. http://www.emeraldinsight.com/journal/jamr
- Jyoti, J., & Dev, M. (2015). The impact of transformational leadership on employee creativity: The role of learning orientation. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 9(1), 78-98. doi:10.1108/jabs-03-2014-0022
- Kapucu, N., & Demiroz, F. (2015). A social network analysis approach to strengthening nonprofit collaboration. *Journal of Applied Management and*Entrepreneurship, 20(1), 87-101. doi:10.9774/gleaf.3709.2015.ja.00007
- Kemparaj, U., & Chavan, S. (2013). Qualitative research: A brief description. *Indian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 67(3), 89-98. doi:10.4103/0019-5359.121127
- Kerr, J., Rouse, P., & de Villiers, C. (2015). Sustainability reporting integrated into management control systems. *Pacific Accounting Review*, 27, 189-207. doi:10.1108/par-08-2012-0034
- Ketefian, S. (2015). Ethical considerations in research. Focus on vulnerable groups.

  \*Investigacion Y Educacion En Enfermeria, 33, 164-172. Retrieved from http://aprendeenlinea.udea.edu.com
- Khan, S. A., & Ismail, W. W. (2017). To evaluate the impact of transformational leadership on organizational learning. *CLEAR International Journal of Research In Commerce & Management*, 8(9), 1-6. http://ijrcm.org.in/commerce/index.php
- Khorin, A. N., Potanina, Y. M., & Brovkin, A. V. (2017). Sector non-profit organizations in the management of socio-economic systems. *Journal of Legal, Ethical & Regulatory Issues*, 20,1-16.
- Kihn, L., & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative

- studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 12, 230-255. doi:10.1108/qram-03-2013-0012
- Kim, H. (2014). Transformational leadership, organizational clan culture, organizational affective commitment, and organizational citizenship behavior: A case of South Korea's public sector. *Public Organization Review, 14*, 397-417. doi:10.1007/s11115-013-0225-z
- Kim, M. (2015). Socioeconomic diversity, political engagement, and the density of nonprofit organizations in U.S. counties. *American Review of Public Administration*, 45, 402-416. doi:10.1177/0275074013504616
- Kima, S. E., & Kimb, D. Y. (2016). The profits of cause: A new direction for corporate social responsibility in South Korea. *International Review of Public Administration*, 21(1), 57-71. doi:10.1080/12294659.2015.1084091
- Kimball, E. (2016). Reconciling the knowledge of scholars and practitioners: An extended case analysis of the role of theory in student affairs. *Critical Questions in Education*, 7, 287-305. Retrieved from http://education.missouristate.edu/AcadEd/default.htm
- Kirk, K., Ractham, P., & Abrahams, A. (2016). Website development by nonprofit organizations in an emerging market: A case study of Thai websites. *International Journal of Not-for-profit& Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 21, 195-211. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1557
- Kiron, D., Kruschwitz, N., Haanaes, K., Reeves, M., Fuisz-Kehrbach, S. K., & Kell, G. (2015). Joining forces: Collaboration and leadership for sustainability. *MIT Sloan*

- Management Review, 56(3), 1-32. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/issue/
- Kristensen, G. K., & Ravn, M. N. (2015). The voices heard and the voices silenced:

  Recruitment processes in qualitative interview studies. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 722-737. doi:10.1177/1468794114567496
- Leung, D., Law, R., van Hoof, H., Buhalis, D., (2013). Social media in tourism and hospitality: A literature review. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*. *30*(1-2), 3-22. doi:10.1080/10548408.2013.750919 zxcvbnm
- Lin, K. (2016). Integrating ethical guidelines and situated ethics for researching social-media-based interactions: Lessons from a virtual ethnographic case study with Chinese youth. *Journal of Information Ethics*, 25, 114-131,150. http://www.mcfarlandbooks.com/customers/journals/journal-of-information-ethics/
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (2013). *The constructivist credo*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press, Inc.
- Lin-hi, N., Hörisch, J., & Blumberg, I. (2015). Does CSR matter for nonprofit organizations? Testing the link between CSR performance and trustworthiness in the nonprofit versus for-profit domain. *Voluntas*, *26*, 1944-1974. doi:10.1007/s11266-014-9506-6
- Lipovsky, C. (2016). Negotiating solidarity with potential donors: A study of the images in fundraising letters by not-for-profit organizations. *Functional Linguistics*, *3*(1), 1-18. doi:10.1186/s40554-016-0024-2

- Lipschultz, J. H. (2015). Social media communication: Concepts, Practices, Data, Law and Ethics. New York, NY: Routledge.
- López-Arceiz, F. J., Bellostas Pérezgrueso, A. J., & Rivera Torres, M. P. (2017).

  Accessibility and transparency: Impact on social economy. *Online Information Review*, 41(1), 35-52. doi:10.1108/oir-09-2015-0296
- Lu, J. (2015). Which nonprofit gets more government funding? Nonprofits' organizational attributes and their receipts of government funding. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 25, 297-312. doi:10.1002/nml.21124
- Mangioni, V., & McKerchar, M. (2013). Strengthening the validity and reliability of the focus group as a method in tax research. *eJournal of Tax Research*, 11, 176-190. Retrieved from http://www.asb.unsw.edu.au
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research (6th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martelli, N., Billaux, M., Borget, I., Pineau, J., Prognon, P., & Van, D. B. (2015).

  Introduction of innovative medical devices at French university hospitals: An overview of hospital-based health technology assessment initiatives. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 31*(1-2), 12-18.

  doi:10.1017/S0266462315000057
- Masa'deh, R., Obeidat, B. Y., & Tarhini, A. (2016). A Jordanian empirical study of the associations among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, knowledge sharing, job performance, and firm performance. *The Journal of Management Development*, 35, 681-705. doi:10.1108/jmd-09-2015-0134

- Mataira, P. J., Morelli, P. T., Matsuoka, J. K., & Uehara-McDonald, S. (2014). Shifting the paradigm: New directions for non-profits and funders in an era of diminishing resources. *Social Business*, *4*, 231-244. doi:10.1362/204440814X14103454934212
- McCann, J., Kohntopp, T., & Keeling, P. (2015). Leadership in collegiate soccer. *S.A.M. Advanced Management Journal*, 80(2), 32-42.

  http://samnational.org/publications-2/sam-advanced-management-journal/
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5, 117-130. http://jbsq.org/
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McDonald, R. E., Weerawardena, J., Madhavaram, S., & Sullivan Mort, G. (2015). From virtuous to pragmatic pursuit of social mission. *Management Research*\*Review, 38, 970-991. doi:10.1108/MRR-11-2013-0262
- McKeever, B., & Gaddy, M. (2016). The nonprofit workforce: By the numbers.

  \*Nonprofit Quarterly\*. Retrieved from https://nonprofitquarterly.org/2016/10/24/nonprofit-workforce-numbers/
- Medina-Borja, A., & Triantis, K. (2014). Modeling social services performance: A four-stage DEA approach to evaluate fundraising efficiency, capacity building, service quality, and effectiveness in the nonprofit sector. *Annals Of Operations*

- Research, 221, 285-307. doi:10.1007/s10479-011-0917-0
- Megheirkouni, M. (2017). Leadership styles and organizational learning in UK for-profit and non-profit sports organizations. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 25, 596-612. doi:10.1108/ijoa-07-2016-1042
- Merriam, S. B. & Tisdell, E.J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation (4th ed.)*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mertens, D. M. (2014). Research and evaluation in education and psychology:

  Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Thousand
  Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mesu, J., Sanders, K., & Riemsdijk, M. V. (2015). Transformational leadership and organisational commitment in manufacturing and service small to medium-sized enterprises. *Personnel Review*, 44(6), 970-990. doi:10.1108/pr-01-2014-0020
- Milde, K., & Yawson, R. M. (2017). Strategies for social media use in nonprofits.

  \*Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 18(1), 19-27. http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jmppopen.html
- Mishra, P. K. (2016). Sikshasandhan: Funding challenges and mission drift. *Asian Case Research Journal*, 20(1), 89-109. doi:10.1142/S0218927516500048
- Mojtahed, R., Nunes, M. B., Martins, J. T., & Peng, A. (2014). Equipping the constructivist researcher: The combined use of semi-structured interviews and decision-making maps. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12(2), 87-95. http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html
- Morgen Stahl, R. (2013). Talent philanthropy: Investing in nonprofit people to advance

- nonprofit performance. *Foundation Review*, *5*(3), 35-49. doi:10.9707/1944-5660.1169
- Morrison, E. L. (2016). Enforcing the duties of nonprofit fiduciaries: Advocating for expanded standing for beneficiaries. *Boston University Law Review*, 96(2), 1-14. http://www.bu.edu/bulawreview/
- Mozammel, S., & Haan, P. (2016). Transformational leadership and employee engagement in the banking sector in Bangladesh. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 50(6), 43–55. doi:10.1353/jda.2016.0127
- Mucai, G. P., Wanjiku, K. F., & Murigi, L. M. (2014). Strategic organisation development and project performance of nonprofit organisations' in Isiolo subcounty-Kenya. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, *3*, 1316-1324. http://www.irmbrjournal.com/
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.

  \*\*BioMed Central Medical Research Methodology, 14(108), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Muthia, A., & Krishnan, V. R. (2015). Servant leadership and commitment: Role of transformational leadership. *International Journal on Leadership*, 3(1), 9-20. doi:10.21863/ijl/2015.3.1.002
- Naidoo, V., & Wu, T. (2014). Innovations in marketing of higher education: Foreign market entry mode of not-for-profit universities. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 29, 546-558. doi:10.1108/jbim-07-2013-0153

- Nelson, A. M. (2016). Methodology for examining attributes of African Americans in the department of defense senior executive service corp. *Journal of Economic Development, Management, IT, Finance, and Marketing, 8*(1), 48-68. http://www.gsmi-ijgb.com/Pages/Journals.aspx
- Ni, N., Chen, Q., Ding, S., & Wu, Z. (2017). Professionalization and cost efficiency of fundraising in charitable organizations: The case of charitable foundations in china. *Voluntas*, 28, 773-797. doi:10.1007/s11266-016-9765-5
- Oberfield, Z. W. (2014). Public management in time: A longitudinal examination of the full range of leadership theory. *Journal of Public Administration Research & Theory*, 24, 407–429. doi:10.1093/jopart/mus060.
- Oberoi, D. V., Jiwa, M., McManus, A., & Hodder, R. (2015). Barriers to help-seeking in men diagnosed with benign colorectal diseases. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 39(1), 22-33. doi:10.5993/AJHB.39.1.3
- O'Brien, B. C., Harris, I. B., Beckman, T. J., Reed, D. A., & Cook, D. A. (2014).

  Standards for reporting qualitative research: A synthesis of recommendations.

  Academic Medicine, 89, 1245-1251. doi:10.1097/ACM.0000000000000388
- O'Brien, E., & Tooley, S. (2013). Accounting for volunteer services: A deficiency in accountability. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 10, 279-294. doi:10.1108/QRAM-09-2012-003
- Odegard, A., & Bjorkly, S. (2012). A mixed method approach to clarify the construct validity of interprofessional collaboration: An empirical research illustration. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 26, 283-288.

- Omura, T., & Forster, J. (2014). Competition for donations and the sustainability of not-for-profit organisations. *Humanomics*, 30, 255-274. doi:10.1108/h-12-2012-0026
- Opsal, T., Wolgemuth, J., Cross, J., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E., Colomer, S., & Erdil-Moody, Z. (2016). There are no known benefits . . .: Considering the risk/benefit ratio of qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1137-1150. doi:10.1177/1049732315580109
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *13*, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Osula, B., & Ng, E. C. W. (2014). Toward a collaborative, transformative model of non-profit leadership: Some conceptual building blocks. *Administrative Sciences*, 4(2), 87-104. doi:10.3390/admsci4020087
- Palumbo, R. (2016). Challenging servant leadership in the nonprofit sector: The side effects of servant leadership. *The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, 6(2), 81-98. doi:10.18666/jnel-2016-v6-i2-6824
- Park, S. M., & Kim, M. Y. (2016). Antecedents and outcomes of non-profit public service mo\ivation in Korean NPOs. *International Journal of Manpower*, *37*, 777-803. doi:10.1108/IJM-12-2014-0242
- Păceșilă, M. (2018). Endowment a tool for ensuring financial stability of nongovernmental organizations. *Economics, Management and Financial Markets*, 13, 162-172. https://addletonacademicpublishers.com/economics-

- management-and-financial-markets
- Pati, N., & Lee, J. (2016). Benchmarking presidents' compensations in institutions of higher education relative to sustainability and other institutional practices.

  \*Benchmarking\*, 23, 1500-1521. doi:10.1108/bij-03-2016-0034
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pettigrew, A. M. (2013). The conduct of qualitative research in organizational settings:

  Qualitative research in organizational settings. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 21, 123–126. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8683.2012.00925.x
- Petrulaitiene, V., & Jylhä, T. (2015). The perceived value of workplace concepts for organisations. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, 17, 260-281. doi:10.1108/jcre-06-2015-0014
- Peyrovi, H., Raiesdana, N., & Mehrdad, N. (2014). Living with a heart transplant: A phenomenological study. *Progress in Transplantation*, 24, 234-241. doi:10.7182/pit2014966
- Plester, B., & Hutchison, A. (2016). Fun times: The relationship between fun and workplace engagement. *Employee Relations*, 38, 332-350. doi:10.1108/er-03-2014-0027
- Powell, G. N., & Eddleston, K. A. (2013). Linking family-to-business enrichment and support to entrepreneurial success: Do female and male entrepreneurs experience different outcomes? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 28, 261-280. Retrieved from http://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-business-venturing/

- Powell, P. A., Overton, P. G., & Simpson, J. (2014). The revolting self: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the experience of self-disgust in females with depressive symptoms. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 70, 562-578. doi:10.1002/jclp.22049
- Preece, S. (2015). Acquiring start-up funding for new arts organizations. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 25, 463-474. doi:10.1002/nml.21131
- Pressgrove, G. (2017). Development of a scale to measure perceptions of stewardship strategies for nonprofit organizations. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 94, 102-123. doi:10.1177/1077699016640221
- Rabionet, S. E. (2011). How I learned to design and conduct semi-structured interviews:

  An ongoing and continuous journey. *Qualitative Report*, *16*, 563-566.

  https://tqr.nova.edu/
- Renukappa, S., Egbu, C., Akintoye, A., & Suresh, S. (2013). Drivers for embedding sustainability initiatives within selected UK industrial sectors. *Journal of International Real Estate and Construction Studies*, *3*(1), 51-72. https://www.novapublishers.com/catalog/product\_info.php?products\_id=13120
- Reybold, L. E., Lammert, J. D., & Stribling, S. M. (2013). Participant selection as a conscious research method: Thinking forward and the deliberation of "emergent" findings. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 699–716. doi:10.1177/1468794112465634
- Richardson, B. J. (2016). Universities unloading on fossil fuels: The legality of divesting. *Carbon & Climate Law Review: CCLR*, 10(1), 62-74. https://cclr.lexxion.eu/

- Rim, H., Yang, S., & Lee, J. (2016). Strategic partnerships with nonprofits in corporate social responsibility (CSR): The mediating role of perceived altruism and organizational identification. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 3213-3219. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.02.035
- Rimando, M., Brace, A., Namageyo-Funa, A., Parr, T. L., Sealy, D., Davis, T. L.,

  Martinez Christiana, R. W. (2015). Data collection challenges and

  recommendations for early career researchers. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 2025-2036. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Rinaldi, M., Parretti, C., Salimbeni, L. B., & Citti, P. (2015). Conceptual design of a decision support system for the economic sustainability of nonprofit organizations. *Procedia CIRP*, *34*, 119-124. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.07.080
- Rodik, P., & Primorac, J. (2015). To use or not to use: Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software usage among early-career sociologists in Croatia. *Forum:*Qualitative Social Research, 16, 3759-3780. doi:10.17169/fqs-16.1.2221
- Rohayati, M. I., Najdi, Y., & Williamson, J. C. (2016). Philanthropic fundraising of higher education institutions: A review of the Malaysian and Australian perspectives. *Sustainability*, 8(6), 541-560 doi:/10.3390/su8060541(registeringDOI)/
- Rosenbaum, S. (2016). Hospital community benefit spending: Leaning in on the social determinants of health. *Milbank Quarterly*, 94, 251-254. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12191
- Routhieaux, R. L. (2015). Shared leadership and its implications for nonprofit

- leadership. *The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership, 5*, 139-152. https://js.sagamorepub.com/jnel/index
- Rowold, J., Borgmann, L., & Bormann, K. (2014). Which leadership constructs are important for predicting job satisfaction, affective commitment, and perceived job performance in profit versus nonprofit organizations?. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 25, 147-164. doi:10.1002/nml.21116
- Rumney, P., Anderson, J.A. & Ryan, S.E. Ethics in pharmacologic research in the child with a disability. *Pediatric Drugs*, (2015) *17*(61), 61-68. doi:10.1007/s40272-014-0102-4
- Ryan, C., & Irvine, H. (2012). Not-For-Profit ratios for financial resilience and internal accountability: A study of Australian international aid organisations. *Australian Accounting Review*, 22, 177-194. doi:10.1111/j.1835-2561.2012.00163
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Samaan, Z., Litke, K., McCabe, K., Dennis, B., Whattam, J., Garrick, L., . . . Thabane, L. (2015). A pragmatic pilot randomized trial to investigate the effectiveness of behavioural activation group therapy in reducing depressive symptoms and improving quality of life in patients with depression: The BRAVE pilot trial protocol. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, *I*(1). doi:10.1186/s40814-015-0034-y
- Sargeant, A., & Shang, J. (2016). Outstanding fundraising practice: How do nonprofits substantively increase their income?. *International Journal of Nonprofit & Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 21(1), 43-56. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1546

- Sargeant, A., Woodliffe, L., (2007). Gift giving: An interdisciplinary review.

  \*\*International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing 12, 275–307.\*\*

  doi:10.1002/nvsm.308
- Sarma, S. K. (2015). Qualitative research: Examining the misconceptions. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 22, 176-191. http://www.sajm-amdisa.org/
- Sasson, U., & Katz, H. (2014). Transformational leaders and adolescent volunteers: Their visions, our children. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 11*(2), 47-57. http://www.na-businesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Schaltegger, S., & Hörisch, J. (2017). In search of the dominant rationale in sustainability management: Legitimacy- or profit-seeking?. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *145*, 259-276. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2854-3
- Sebastian-Ion Ceptureanu, Eduard-Gabriel Ceptureanu, Orzan, M. C., & Marin, I. (2017).

  Toward a Romanian NPOs sustainability model: Determinants of sustainability. *Sustainability*, 9. doi:10.3390/su9060966
- Senom, F., & Othman, J. (2014). The native speaker mentors: A qualitative study on novice teachers' professional development. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 141, 617-622. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.05.108
- Service, B., Dalgic, G. E., & Thornton, K. (2016). Implications of a shadowing/mentoring programme for aspiring principals. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 5, 253-271. doi:10.1108/ijmce-03-2016-0031
- Shafiq, A., P, F. J., Klassen, R. D., & Awaysheh, A. (2017). Exploring the implications

- of supply risk on sustainability performance. *International Journal of Operations* & *Production Management*, *37*, 1386-1407. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-01-2016-0029
- Sharifirad, M. S., Mortazavi, S., Rahimnia, F., & Farahi, M. M. (2017). Implicit leadership theories: A qualitative study in an Iranian organization. *Iranian Journal of Management Studies*, 10(1), 1-29. doi:10.22059/ijms.2017.60205
- Sheremenko, G., Escalante, C. L., & Florkowski, W. J. (2017). Financial sustainability and poverty outreach: The case of microfinance institutions in eastern Europe and central Asia. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 29, 230-245. doi:10.1057/ejdr.2016.12
- Sidorova, Y., Arnaboldi, M., & Radaelli, J. (2016). Social media and performance measurement systems: Towards a new model? *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 65, 139-161. doi:10.1108/ijppm-06-2014-0084
- Simpson, A., & Quigley, C. F. (2016). Member checking process with adolescent students: Not just reading a transcript. *The Qualitative Report, 21*, 377-392. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Smith, S. S. (2014). Strategy, sustainability, and innovative financial reporting. *Journal of Strategic Innovation & Sustainability*, 10(1), 19-23. http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jsisopen.html
- Soysa, I. B., Jayamaha, N. P., & Grigg, N. P. (2016). Operationalising performance measurement dimensions for the Australasian nonprofit healthcare sector. *TQM Journal*, 28, 954-973. doi:10.1108/tqm-08-2015-0109

- Stahl, A., Covrig, D., & Newman, I. (2014). Understanding board leadership: Adventist hospital board chair behaviors and effectiveness and organizational outcomes. *The Journal of Applied Christian Leadership*, 8(2), 49-66.

  https://www.andrews.edu/services/jacl/
- Stake, R. E. (2010). *Qualitative Research: Studying How Things Work*. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Stecker, M. J. (2014). Revolutionizing the nonprofit sector through social entrepreneurship. *Journal of Economic Issues*, 48, 349-357. doi:10.2753/JEI0021-3624480208
- Stryker, S., & Stryker, J. (2017). Beneficial leadership and corporate social responsibility. *International Journal on Global Business Management & Research*, 6(2), 1-20. http://globalimpactfactor.com/international-journal-of-global-business-management-and-research/
- Su, S., Nuryyev, G., & Aimable, W. (2014). The effect of financial management on the performance of non-profit organizations: An empirical study in Haiti. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 6, 90-98. Retrieved from www.ijoi-online.org
- Swanson, L. A., & Zhang, D. D. (2012). Perspectives on corporate responsibility and sustainable development. *Management of Environmental Quality*, 23, 630-639. doi:10.1108/14777831211262918
- Taylor, C. M., Cornelius, C. J., & Colvin, K. (2014). Visionary leadership and its relationship to organizational effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization*

- Development Journal, 35, 566-583. doi:10.1108/lodj-10-2012-0130
- Teske III, R. C. (2017). Nonprofit formation in Texas: Organization. *Southern Journal of Business & Ethics*, 16, 154-165. http://www.salsb.org/
- Tevel, E., Katz, H., & Brock, D. (2015). Nonprofit financial vulnerability: Testing competing models, recommended improvements, and implications. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations, 26,* 2500-2516. doi:10.1007/s11266-014-9523-5
- Thiel, C. E., Bagdasarov, Z., Harkrider, L., Johnson, J. F., & Mumford, M. D. (2012).
  Leader ethical decision-making in organizations: Strategies for sense making.
  Journal of Business Ethics, 107(1), 49-64. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1299-1
- Toyasaki, F., & Wakolbinger, T. (2014). Impacts of earmarked private donations for disaster fundraising. *Annals of Operations Research*, 221, 427-447. doi:10.1007/s10479-011-1038-5
- Trmal, S. A., Bustamam, U. S. A., & Mohamed, Z. A. (2015). The effect of transformational leadership in achieving high performance workforce that exceeds organisational expectation: A study from a global and Islamic perspective. *Global Business and Management Research*, 7, 88-94. http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com/
- Turner, K., Escamilla, C. S., & Venta, E. H. R. (2016). The symphony of southeast Texas in 2015: A regional orchestra navigating new horizons. *Journal of Business Case Studies*. *12*, 61-68. doi:10.19030/jbcs.v12i2.9623
- Tysiac, K. (2016). Getting creative in fundraising. *Journal of Accountancy*, 222(1), 34-40. https://www.journalofaccountancy.com/

- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (2014). *The Belmont Report*. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Uzonwanne, F. C. (2016). Influence of age and gender on decision-making models and leadership styles of non-profit executives in Texas, USA. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 24, 186-203. doi:10.1108/ijoa-05-2013-0667
- Valentinov, V., & Vacekova, G. (2015). Sustainability of rural nonprofit organizations:

  Czech Republic and beyond. *Sustainability*, 7, 9890-9906.

  doi:10.3390/su7089890
- Valero, J. N., Jung, K., & Andrew, S. A. (2015). Does transformational leadership build resilient public and not-for-profit organizations? *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 24(1), 4-20. doi:10.1108/dpm-04-2014-0060
- van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLoS One*, *12*(7), e0181689 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Vasavada, T., (2014). Women leaders and management of public relations in nonprofit organizations. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management & Entrepreneurship*Research, 3(1), 5-19. https://link.springer.com/journal/10490
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Sullivan, Y. W. (2016). Guidelines for conducting mixed-methods research: An extension and illustration. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 17, 435-494. http://aisel.aisnet.org/jais/
- Veríssimo, J. C., & Lacerda, T. C. (2015). Does integrity matter for CSR practice in organizations? The mediating role of transformational leadership. *Business*

- Ethics: A European Review, 24(1), 34-51. doi:10.1111/beer.12065
- Vermeulen, Y., Niemann, W., & Kotzé, T. (2016). Supply chain integration: A qualitative exploration of perspectives from plastic manufacturers in Gauteng.

  \*Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management, 10(1)\*

  doi:10.4102/jtscm.v10i1.223
- Viader, A. M., & Espina, M. I. (2014). Are not-for-profits learning from for-profit-organizations? A look into governance. *Corporate Governance*, *14*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1108/CG-11-2012-0083
- Wade-Berg, J., & Robinson-Dooley, V. (2015). Perceptions of collaboration and service integration as strategic alternatives: An examination of social service nonprofit organizations in the late 1990s. *Journal of Public Management & Social Policy*, 20, 119-136. http://www.jpmsp.com/
- Waller, T. C., Hockin, R. J., & Smith, G. S. (2017). Marketing strategies of mobile game application entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, 16(1), 1-14. doi:10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.01
- Wan, A. Y. Y., Ip, Marco, P. L., & Cheng, Paul K. S. (2016). Guanxi and relationship marketing: An anthropological case study of China's foreign banks. *Journal of China Marketing*, 6(1), 47-77. http://www.cambridgescholars.com/journal-of-china-marketing
- Waniak-Michalak, H., & Zarzycka, E. (2015). Financial and non-financial factors motivating individual donors to support public benefit organizations.

  Comparative Economic Research, 18, 131-152. doi:10.1515/cer-2015-0008

- Weiwei, L., & Qiushi, W. (2016). What helped nonprofits weather the great recession?. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 26, 257-276. doi:10.1002/nml.21197
- Wenner, D. M. (2016). Barriers to effective deliberation in clinical research oversight.

  HEC Forum, 28, 245-259. doi:10.1007/s10730-015-9298-0
- Wiggers, R. (2016). Action for children: A model for stimulating local fundraising in low- and middle-income countries. *Development In Practice*, 26, 619-628. doi:10.1080/09614524.2016.1191437
- Williams-Gray, B. (2016). Building capacity in nonprofit human service agencies through organizational assessment during the accreditation process. *The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, 6, 99-114. doi:10.18666/jnel-2016-v6-i2-6499
- Witmer, H., & Mellinger, M. S. (2016). Organizational resilience: Nonprofit organizations' response to change. *Work*, *54*, 255-265. doi:10.3233/WOR-162303
- Word, J., & Park, S. M. (2015). The new public service? empirical research on job choice motivation in the nonprofit sector. *Personnel Review*, 44, 91-118. doi:10.1108/PR-07-2012-0120
- Worley, D. A., & Little, J. K. (2002). The critical role of stewardship in fund raising: The coaches vs. cancer campaign. *Public Relations Review*, *28*, 99–112. doi:10.1016/s0363-8111(02)00113-3
- Xiaodong, Z., Griffith, J., Pershing, J., Jing, S., Malakoff, L., Marsland, W., & ... Field, E. (2017). Strengthening organizational capacity and practices for high-

- performing nonprofit organizations: Evidence from the national assessment of the social innovation fund--a public-private partnership. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 41, 424-461. https://paq.spaef.org/
- Xiong, Z. (2016). The impact of teacher education on in-service English teachers' beliefs about self. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 7, 519-526. doi:10.17507/jltr.0703.12
- Yahaya, R., & Ebrahim, F. (2016). Leadership styles and organizational commitment:

  Literature review. *The Journal of Management Development, 35*, 190216. doi:10.1108/jmd-01-2015-0004
- Yardley, S. J., Watts, K. M., Pearson, J., & Richardson, J.A. (2013) *Qualitative Health Research*, 24, 102-113. doi:10.1177/1049732313518
- Yen, M., Trede, F., & Patterson, C., (2016). Learning in the workplace: The role of nurse managers. *Australian Health Review*, 40, 286-291.
- Yıldız, I. G., & Şimşek, Ö. F. (2016). Different pathways from transformational leadership to job satisfaction. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 27(1), 59-77. doi:10.1002/nml.21229
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

  Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R.K. (2012). *Applications of Case Study Research*, 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks,

- CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Yin, R.K. (2015). *Qualitative research from start to finish (2nd ed.)*. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Yu, X. (2016). Social entrepreneurship in China's non-profit sector. *China Perspectives,* 16(3), 53-61. https://chinaperspectives.revues.org/
- Zarshenas, L., Sharif, F., Molazem, Z., Khayyer, M., Zare, N., & Ebadi, A. (2014).

  Professional socialization in nursing: A qualitative content analysis. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 19, 432-438. Retrieved from http://www.medknow.com
- Zhu, H., Wang, P., & Bart, C. (2016). Board processes, board strategic involvement, and organizational performance in for-profit and non-profit organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *136*, 311-328. doi:10.1007/s10551-01

## Appendix: Interview Protocol

Research Study Title: Strategies for Not-for-Profit Sustainability

**Research Question:** What specific fundraising strategies and donor development skills do not-for-profit leaders need for their organizations to be sustainable?

## **Interview Procedures**

I will present a brief overview and introduction that reiterates the IRB requirements

- 1. The interview will occur face to face.
- 2. The interview will be digitally recorded.
- 3. The interviewee or interviewer may choose to end the interview at any time.
- 4. The interviewee will have the opportunity to read the interview transcript upon completion of the transcription process.
- 5. There will be no compensation for participation in this interview.

## **Interview Questions**

- 1. How does your organization define the term sustainability?
- 2. What steps do you take in your organization to ensure it is sustainable?
- 3. What are the current fundraising strategies that your organization uses to cover operational costs and remain viable?
- 4. How do you cultivate relationships with your donors and volunteers?
- 5. How do you influence or motivate donors and volunteers to meet the fundraising goals?
- 6. What are your long-range financial planning strategies for organizational sustainability?

7. What additional information would you like to share about your success at	
running a sustainable not-for-profit organization?	
I have read the interview protocol. I have received and signed the informed consent form.	
My signature on this form grants my permission for my participation in this recorded	
interview and my full understanding of this interview protocol.	
Researcher's Name	Participant's Name
Researcher's Signature	Participant's Signature